
AB
AUDIT COMMITTEE

MONDAY 9 NOVEMBER 2015
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, unless it is already 
entered in the register of members’ interests or is a “pending notification “ that has 
been disclosed to the Head of Legal Services. 

3. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 21 September 2015 3 - 10

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2015

4. Internal Audit: Mid Year Progress Report 11 - 32

To receive an update on progress against the Annual Audit Plan together with 
details of any concerns. 

5. Use of Consultants 33 - 42

To receive an update on the Use of Consultants across the organisation.

6. Treasury Management 43 - 52

To receive an update on the policy and effectiveness of treasury management.  

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

7. Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) 53 - 100

 The Committee is asked to NOTE  that there have been no RIPA 
authorisations in this quarter; and

 Receive a report on the recommendations of the Office of Surveillance 
Commissioner inspection.

THE CHAIRMAN WILL ASSUME THAT MEMBERS HAVE READ THEIR PAPERS PRIOR 
TO THE MEETING TO AVOID UNNECESSARY INTRODUCTIONS TO REPORTS. IF ANY 
QUESTIONS ARE APPARENT FROM THE REPORTS THEY SHOULD BE PASSED TO 

THE REPORT AUTHOR PRIOR TO THE MEETING

Public Document Pack



8. Approved Write-Offs Exceeding £10,000

The Committee is asked to NOTE that there have been no approved write-off 
amounts to report since 21 September 2015, which exceed the Council’s Financial 
Regulation threshold of £10,000.

9. Feedback Report

The Committee is asked to NOTE  that no actions were raised at the meeting held 
on 21 September 2015.

10. Work Programme 101 - 106

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Karen S Dunleavy on 01733 452233 as soon as possible.

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: K Aitken (Chairman), S Scott, D Over (Vice Chairman), Sylvester, K Sharp, F Fox, 
A Shaheed and S Lane

Substitutes: Councillors: C Harper, Johnson, D Harrington, Whitby, N Sandford and J R Fox

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Karen S Dunleavy on telephone 
01733 452233 or by email – karen.dunleavy@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 21 SEPTEMBER 2015

Present: Councillors Aitken (Vice Chairman), Over, Sharp, F Fox, Shaheed, 
Thulbourn, Lane and Scott OBE.

Also Present: Councillor Seaton Cabinet Member for Resources

Officers in
Attendance: John Harrison, Corporate Director Resources

Steven Pilsworth, Service Director Financial Services
Ben Stevenson, Compliance Manager (Governance)
Kirsty Nutton, Financial Services Manager - Corporate Accounting
Kevin Dawson, Head of Resilience
Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

Also in 
Attendance: Julian Rickett, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC)

Karen Mcintosh, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sylvester.  Councillor Johnson 
was in attendance as a nominated substitute.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.  

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 29 JUNE 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 29 June 2015 were approved as an 
accurate and true record.

4.   AUDIT OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The Corporate Director Resources and Financial Services Manager introduced the 
report to Audit Committee Members on the Audit of Statement of Accounts (SoA), 
which was in line with the regular pattern of reporting on the Council’s financial 
position.  The Corporate Director Resources also advised Audit Committee Members 
that there had been a difference of opinion held between Peterborough City Council 
(PCC) and external auditors PwC in respect of the Council’s valuation and 
accounting treatment for schools.  Members of the Audit Committee also received an 
amendment to the statement of accounts report, which had been circulated prior to 
the meeting and attached at appendix one of these minutes.

Julian Rickett from (PWC), also highlighted a number of key points for Members attention 
in relation to the Audit of Statement of accounts report.

Key points highlighted included:

Public Document Pack

3



 Report to those charged with governance;
 The majority of outstanding matters had been satisfactorily resolved and ahead of 

deadlines, however, there were some outstanding issues in relation to bank loans 
and two minor queries in relation to employees salary;

 There had been some changes made in relation to risk assessments for ISAs for 
property, plant and equipment.  This was a national approach by PwC;

 Significant risks audit and accounting matters such as valuation of property, plant 
and equipment.  It was appreciated by PwC that different valuers applied a 
different approach;

 Land valuations were within an acceptable range;
 School valuation treatment;
 Pension liability and the actuary valuation;
 Corrected and uncorrected misstatements in the accounts, which PwC had 

credited the PCC Finance Team for; 
 Appropriate treatment of school title deeds;
 Value for money of service for the work undertaken by PwC;
 Risk of fraud; and
 PwC fees and expected outturn.

The Corporate Director Resources and Financial Services Manager and Julian 
Rickett (PwC), responded to comments and questions raised by Members. A 
summary of responses included:

 The £6,669 fee for assessing the accounting treatment of schools  had 
related to the additional work undertaken by PwC which followed CIPFA 
rulings and did not cover the audit of individual schools;  

 Each school asset in relation to the different types of schools such as Local 
Authority (LA) or foundation required a different audit treatment;

 The pension liability amount would always be audited regardless of the size of 
the figure and PwC’s responsibility would be to ensure that it was outlined 
correctly within the statement of accounts;

 PwC would comment on the property, plant and equipment outlined within the 
statement of accounts as it was such a large figure within PCC’s financial 
accounts;

 PwC would comment on the budget gap in terms of a conclusion for the 
delivery of value for money in relation to securing financial resilience; 

 The higher PCC increased payments into pension funds to remove the gap, 
the wider the budget deficit would be within the current financial year;

 PCC relied on the tri-annual valuation of the pension fund set by the actuary 
to determine PCCs financial commitments for pensions;

 There had been a pot of money, assets and investments to help meet the 
future pension liabilities gap, however, the funds were not enough to cover 
the full obligation;  

 The Local Authority pension scheme had been nationally defined by the 
Government and was not something that could be changed at a local level; 

 The LA pension scheme had been changed by the Government over the 
years in terms of when staff could retire and the level of contributions they 
may wish to pay in;  

 It was anticipated that there would be further changes to the LA pension 
scheme made by the Government in future;  

 The next pension valuation from the actuary was due in 2017/2018, which 
would feed into the Medium Term Financial Plan process;  

4



 Councillor Seaton the Cabinet Member for Resources commented that the 
pension deficit was shared between PCC and the County Council and that the 
deficit was a fairly a common issue across all Councils;

 The pension liability amount of £75.3m which was outlined within the SoA 
report on page 30,  had demonstrated that the figure was beneficial due to 
the gain of £19m from the previous year’s actuary valuation;

 The methods used to work out the pension figure were met by taking into 
account mortality rate and investments, which were variable and would drive 
the deficit figure to escalate; and 

 The change in range of discounting the pension scheme liabilities had 
impacted the Local Authority from 4.3% in previous year to 3.2% when 
predicting the pension amount payable in the future.

The Committee: 

1. Received and approved the “Report to those charged with governance 
(ISA260) 2014/15 Audit” from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), the Council’s 
external auditors; and

2. Received and approved the audited Statement of Accounts 2014/15.

5.   RISK MANAGEMENT: STRATEGIC RISKS

The Head of Resilience introduced the report to Audit Committee Members, which 
provided a quarterly update on the Risk Management and Business Continuity 
position for the Council.  

The key points highlighted included:

 The Strategic Risks were reviewed on a quarterly basis; 
 The impact of demographic changes had been included in all plans; 
 Safeguarding had shown as a high risk;
 The financial position for the LA had also increased recently; and
 Information governance.

The Head of Resilience responded to comments and questions raised by Members.  
In summary responses included:

 High risks such as safeguarding, would be monitored and reviewed every three 
months by CMT.  The shorter term risks that fluctuated would be reviewed every 
six months;

 Additional measures would be introduced for higher risk service issues; such as 
the recent  recruitment campaign to employ ‘alternatively qualified workers’  to 
support social workers in order to mitigate the safeguarding risk for 
Peterborough’s vulnerable cohort;  

 The budget risk was a longer term issue due to the nature of the City and 
government pressures, which could mean that the financial situation would not 
improve over a short period of time and it was difficult to predict the financial 
situation long into the future;

 Members commented that there had been a national issue experienced with the 
recruitment of social workers and that the LA’s plans to improve the situation 
locally had been innovative.  It had been anticipated that there would be an idea in 
the next six months as to whether the situation had improved for the LA; and  

5



 Members also commented that Audit Committee’s in other Local Authorities had 
undertaken an active role in driving non-performance, which had proved effective 
in driving down risks.

The Committee:

Considered and noted the report and thanked the Head of Resilience for a good report.

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

10. USE OF REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)

The Compliance Manager (Governance) introduced the RIPA report for the period 1 
March 2015, which outlined the use of the Council’s covert surveillance to investigate 
issues such as fly tipping.

The key points highlighted included:

 There were proposals for the Council to install covert surveillance cameras in 
strategic positions throughout Peterborough to address fly tipping.  The use 
would be reported to Audit Committee in the usual way;

 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 introduced a criminal threshold for 
council’s intending to use RIPA powers. The offence must be punishable by a 
maximum minimum of six months imprisonment or related to the underage 
sale of restricted products;

 Robust surveillance procedures and the judicial approval of RIPA use as 
appropriate;

 RIPA powers had been last used in February 2015 in relation to the sale of 
tobacco to under age customers;

 The recent three yearly inspection conducted by the Office of the Surveillance 
Commissioner (OSC), which was a positive and helpful process in respect of 
recommendations made about PCC’s policies, procedures and training on the 
use of RIPA; and

 An update report would be presented to Audit Committee, which had been 
intended to outline how the OSC inspector’s recommendations had been 
implemented. 

The Compliance Manager (Governance) responded to comments and questions 
raised by Members.  In summary responses included:

 The criminal threshold included the minimum/maximum punishment of six 
months imprisonment and also for offences in relation to the underage sales 
of age restricted products, however, it was believed that there were usually 
warnings issued in the first instance for such sales;

 RIPA provided a framework, which allowed the Council to demonstrate why it 
had undertaken surveillance action;

 The Council had to seek internal approval for the use of RIPA in the first 
instance and then from a Justice of the Peace before any surveillance action 
can be undertaken.  Issues such as planning enforcement may fall outside of 
the RIPA process due to the fact that the issue may not meet the crime 
threshold. However, the Council would apply the same reasonableness and 
proportionate criteria when planning issues were investigated; and

6



 Surveillance cameras used to identify fly tipping offences would be placed in 
locations where intelligence indicated that there was a high risk of fly tipping. 
This may be based on reports and regular incidents.

The Committee:

1. Received, considered and endorsed the report on the use of RIPA for the 
period since 1 March 2015; and

2. Noted the recommendations of the OSC inspection and agreed a further 
report to Audit Committee regarding actions against the recommendations.

11. APPROVED WRITE-OFFS EXCEEDING £10,000

The Committee noted that there had been no write-offs for the Council exceeding 
£10,000.

12. FEEDBACK REPORT

The Chairman introduced a report, which provided feedback on items considered or 
questions raised at the previous meeting of Audit Committee.  It also provided an 
update on specific matters which were of interest to the Committee or where the 
Committee had requested to be kept informed of progress. 

The Committee: 

Noted the report.

13.  WORK PROGRAMME

The Chairman submitted the latest version of the Work Programme for the Municipal 
Year 2015/2016 for consideration and approval.  The standard report provided details 
of the proposed Work Programme for the Municipal Year 2015/2016 together with 
any training needs identified.

The Committee:

Noted and approved the 2015/2016 Work Programme.  

               
 7:00pm – 7:55pm       

                      Chairman

7



Item 4 - Main report
References to Audit Committee Terms of Reference should be 2.2.1.18 and 2.2.1.19, not 2.2.18 and 2.2.19 as stated in the report (p9 section 
2.2 and p16 section 7.1).

Item 4 – App 3 - Statement of Accounts 2014/15 –
Audit work continued after the agenda had been dispatched and PwC have asked for the following changes to be made to the final Statement 
of Accounts.  These changes have been incorporated into the Statement of Accounts signed this evening by the Chair of the Committee and 
the Corporate Director: Resources.

Note 15 – Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions.
 Changes to Note 15 to reflect amendments related to the disposals adjustment, not updated in time for paper dispatch.
 Table 1 (Reports pack p105, Statement of Accounts p32) – Portfolio Income & Expenditure for 2014/15 - Resources - other services 

expenses changed to £215,006.with changes to totals. Change to Amounts Included in the Analysis not Included in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to -£36,130.

 Table 2 (Reports pack p106, Statement of Accounts p33) – Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis 2014/15  - Portfolio Analysis – 
Other Service Expenses changed to £323,909 and changes to totals. Amounts not included in CIES - Other Service Expenses changed 
to -£36,185

 Revised tables are in the following pages. Figures which have changed have been highlighted.

Note 44 – Assumptions made about the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Reports pack p – 
 Property, Plant and Equipment – increase in annual depreciation charge for every year that useful life is reduced changed to £491k and 

2.21% increase. Effect of 1% fall in market value changed to £638k.
 Pensions Liability - Effect of 0.5% decrease in discount rate assumption changed to 11% and £68m. Effect of 0.5% increase in the 

salary increase rate changed to £19m. Effect of 0.5% increase in the pension increase rate changed to 8% and £48m.

8



*ASC H&W is an abbreviation for Adult Social Care, Health & Wellbeing

ASC H&W* Chief 
Executives

Children’s 
Services Communities Governance Growth & 

Regeneration Resources 2014/15
TotalPortfolio Income & Expenditure for 

2014/15 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fees, charges & other service income (16,143) - (2,385) (7,630) (7,109) (3,160) (32,691) (69,118)
Government Grants - - (437) (12,807) (275) (1,655) (235,480) (250,654)
Total Income (16,143) - (2,822) (20,437) (7,384) (4,815) (268,171) (319,772)
Employee expenses 9,875 275 14,346 13,307 7,502 4,616 90,837 140,758
Other service expenses 48,151 196 4,497 49,492 5,888 13,823 215,006 337,053
Total Expenditure 58,026 471 18,843 62,799 13,390 18,439 305,843 477,811
Net Expenditure 41,883  471 16,021 42,362 6,006 13,624 37,672 158,039

Reconciliation of Portfolio Income & Expenditure to Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
Net Expenditure in the Portfolio Analysis 158,039

Amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement not reported to management in the Analysis 40,519
Amounts Included in the Analysis not Included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (36,130)

Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 162,428

9



Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis
This reconciliation shows how the figures in the analysis of portfolio income and expenditure relate to a subjective analysis of the ‘(Surplus) / Deficit 
on the Provision of Services’ line included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis 2014/15 Portfolio 
Analysis

Amounts not 
Reported to 

Mgmt 1

Amounts not 
included in 

CIES 2

Allocation 
of 

Recharges
Cost of 

Services
Corporate 
Amounts Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fees, Charges & Other Service Income (68,920) 6,637 6,360 9,320 (46,603) (9,262) (55,865)
Interest & Investment Income (198) - 198 - - (239) (239)
Income from Council Tax - - - - - (58,947) (58,947)
NDR Income - - - - - (45,098) (45,098)
Government Grants & Contributions (250,654) (5,859) 7,112 - (249,401) (82,812) (332,213)
Total Income (319,772) 778 13,670 9,320 (296,004) (196,358) (492,362)

Employee Expenses 140,758 (6,316) (471) - 133,971 9,836 143,807
Other Service Expenses 323,909 (5,807) (36,185) - 281,917 14,521 296,438
Support Services Recharges - - - (9,320) (9,320) - (9,320)
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment - 51,864 - - 51,864 2,448 54,312
Interest Payments 13,144 - (13,144) - - 13,233 13,233
Precepts & Levies - - - - - 1,038 1,038
Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool - - - - - 2 2
Movement on Revaluation of Assets Held for Sale - - - - - - -
Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets - - - - - 31,744 31,744
Total Expenditure 477,811 39,741 (49,800) (9,320) 458,432 72,822 531,254

Deficit / (Surplus) on the Provision of Services 158,039 40,519 (36,130) - 162,428 (123,536) 38,892
    

1 Amounts not reported to Management are accounting entries over which the Management have no control ie IAS19 pension adjustment the 
accumulated  compensated absences adjustment, capital charges and capital grants.
2 Amounts not included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) are the Trading Units which are shown in Other Operating 
Income & Expenditure rather than in the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

10



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 4

9 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources

Committee Member(s) responsible: Councillor Aitken, Chair of Audit Committee

Contact Officer(s): John Harrison, Corporate Director Resources

Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor

 452 398

 384 557

INTERNAL AUDIT: HALF YEAR UPDATE 2015 / 2016

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : John Harrison, Director of Strategic Resources Deadline date : N/A
Audit Committee are asked that:

1. The Internal Audit Update Report to 30 September 2015 be received and the Committee note 
in particular:

 (a)  Progress made against the plan and the overall performance of the section.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to Audit Committee as a routine planned report within the work 
programme of the Committee. It sets out Internal Audit performance and progress with 
regards to the 2015 / 2016 Audit Plan (Audit Committee approval: 16 March 2015).

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Audit Committee on Internal Audit activities and 
performance progress against the Annual Audit 2015 / 2016 as at 30 September 2015. 

2.2 The report is for the Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.3 – To 
consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal 
audit services.

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy Item / Statutory 
Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

N/A

11



4. OVERVIEW

4.1 This report outlines the work undertaken by Internal Audit up to 30 September 2015, 
progress against our plan and other issues of interest. 

5. ASSURANCE OPINION 

5.1 One of four levels of assurance is allocated to each audit review. These assurance levels 
are: FULL; SIGNIFICANT; LIMITED; and NO ASSURANCE. Where concerns have been 
identified resulting in limited or no assurance, the Executive Summaries for these reviews 
will be included in an appendix to this report, once the audit review has been agreed and 
finalised. There is one report that currently falls into this category in this Audit 
Committee update. 

5.2 Initial work throughout the first six months has focused on activities which have been date 
demand led as well as focussing on the closure of previous years reviews. These have 
included 7 audit projects involving the verification and certification of grants. As a result of 
the implementation of the Agresso system, Internal Audit has revisited its audit activities in 
this area to include Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable and General Ledger. This work 
will be on-going until the system goes live in November.  In addition to this Internal Audit 
continues to work with the Investigations team where two reviews have proven to be 
resource intensive.  As much of the work has been specific to the area being reviewed, the 
Chief Internal Auditor is unable to provide an opinion on the internal control environment 
across the organisation at this stage. 

6. AUDIT PLAN 2015 / 2016

6.1 Progress against Plan

6.1.1 Appendix A shows the status of those audits included in the original plan, as well as those 
unplanned audits that have arisen since the plan was approved. 

6.1.2 At present 19 audit projects are in progress, 6 are at draft report stage and 18 have been 
finalised.  In addition 7 grant certifications have been completed.

6.1.3 There are 22 audit projects left to be undertaken in the second half of the year, along with 
the completion of the 19 currently in progress. Since the audit plan was approved resources 
have reduced slightly as a result of a Senior Auditor temporarily reducing their hours to 
0.8fte.  The impact of this is the reduction in approximately 30 available audit days, 2-3 
reviews.  Progress against the 2015/2016 plan is reasonable and any audits that may not be 
delivered as a result of the reduced resources will be risk assessed and prioritised during 
the next six months based on business need or focus. 

6.1.4 Internal Audit also undertakes audit activities for Vivacity. During the year to date, 4 carried 
forward audits have been finalised with 5 reviews in progress. There are a further 5 reviews 
to commence during the remainder of the year.

6.2 Other Performance Matters 

6.2.1 There has been 0.58 days of sickness absence per person, compared to a target of 2.5 
days. 

6.2.2 There has been 100% acceptance of audit recommendations to date.

12



7. CONSULTATION

7.1 This report and the accompanying appendices have been issued to the deputy s.151 Officer 
for consideration. 

8. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

8.1 That the Audit Committee is informed of Internal Audit’s progress against the Annual Audit 
Plan. In addition, that the Audit Committee is made aware of any key control issues 
highlighted by our work.

9. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

9.1 The Council is subject to the Accounts and Audit Regulations and, as such, must make 
provision for Internal Audit in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards. It must also produce an Annual Governance Statement to 
be published with the Council’s financial accounts. This report and associated papers 
demonstrate how the audit service is progressing against the audit plan how it will contribute 
to the Statement.

10.  ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

10.1 The alternative of not providing an Internal Audit service is not an option.

11. IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Corporate Resource Implications

During the year, Internal Audit makes a number of recommendations. While implementing 
these may have resource implications for the various areas under review, Internal Audit 
discuss and agree recommendations with the Auditee prior to the issue of the final audit 
report. Therefore, it is assumed that their implementation can and will be undertaken either 
with existing resources or with additional resources that they can readily call upon.

11.2 Legal Implications

The Internal Audit service is undertaken in accordance with the requirements of section 151 
of the Local Government Act and the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 
There would be a legal implication if an Internal Audit service was not provided for, and if 
mechanisms were not in place to carry out a review of internal control, governance and risk 
management as a basis for the Annual Governance Statement. 

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

 
12.1 Internal Audit Annual Plan 2015 / 2016

13. APPENDICES: 

Appendix A Progress of Audit Plan 2015 / 2016 (To 30 September 2015)

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

APPENDIX A

ANNUAL AUDIT OPINION 

PROGRESS REPORT 2015 / 2016

15



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of this report is to bring the Audit Committee up to date with progress made against the delivery of the 2015 / 2016 Internal 
Audit Plan as at 30 September 2015. This report aims to:

 Summarise the process used in setting and delivering the plan;
 Provide an update on performance indicators comparing actual performance against planned where measurable at this stage; 
 Advise of any planned changes to reviews, slippage or deletions to that originally agreed on 16 March 2015;
 Advise the Committee of significant issues where controls need to improve to effectively manage risks; and
 Track progress on the delivery of agreed actions which will be reported as part of the annual reporting process.

1.2 The information included in this progress report will feed into, and inform our overall opinion in the Annual Head of Internal Audit Report 
issued at the year-end. This opinion will in turn be used to inform the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) included in the Statement of 
Accounts and signed by the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council.

2. INTERNAL AUDIT ROLE AND DETERMINING THE ANNUAL PLAN

2.1 The provision of assurance is the key role for Internal Audit and this requires the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an annual Internal Audit 
Opinion based on an assessment of the framework of governance, control and risk management. The role of Internal Audit, therefore, is to 
understand the key risks to the Council’s objectives and to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of management’s response to those risks.

2.2 In order to achieve this, Internal Audit conducts an annual risk-based audit planning process to determine the audit coverage required across 
all Council operations. This is designed to align audit effort with those areas assessed as posing the greatest risk to the Council.  We use 
various sources of information, such as the Council’s strategic and operational risk registers and the Medium Term Financial Strategy, as well 
as consulting with directors and their management teams, the council’s external auditor and the Audit Committee.  A copy of the Annual Plan, 
as agreed by Audit Committee on 16 March 2015, is attached at appendix B for information.

3. DELIVERING THE PLAN

3.1 Audits are conducted using a risk based approach to ensure effort is focused in the most appropriate areas.  Once the audit is complete, a 
report is issued giving an overall opinion using the definitions below.  The audit opinion is based upon the number and type of 
recommendations we make in each report.  Certain pieces of work do not result in an audit report with an opinion (such as consultancy work, 
involvement in working groups, grant certification and follow-ups).  The report opinion, along with our consideration of other audit work, is used 
to formulate the overall Head of Internal Audit Opinion.

16



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

AUDIT ASSURANCE OPINIONS
Assurance Definitions
Full The system is designed to meet objectives/controls are consistently applied that protect the Authority from foreseeable risks.

Significant The system is generally sound but there are some weaknesses of the design of control and / or the inconsistent application 
of controls. Opportunities exist to mitigate further against potential risks.

Limited There are weaknesses in the design of controls and / or consistency of application, which can put the system objectives at 
risk. Therefore, there is a need to introduce additional controls and improve compliance with existing ones to reduce the risk 
exposure for the Authority.

No Controls are weak and / or there is consistent non-compliance, which can result in the failure of the system. Failure to 
improve controls will expose the Authority to significant risk, which could lead to major financial loss, embarrassment or 
failure to achieve key service objectives.

RECOMMENDATION RATINGS
Status Definitions Implementation
Critical Extreme control weakness that jeopardises the complete operation of the service. Immediately

High Fundamental control weakness which significantly increases the risk / scope for error, fraud, or 
loss of efficiency.

As a matter of priority

Medium Significant control weakness which reduces the effectiveness of procedures designed to 
protect assets and revenue of the Authority.

At the first opportunity

Low Control weakness, which, if corrected, will enhance control procedures that are already 
relatively robust.

As soon as reasonably 
practical

3.3 It is managers’ responsibility to ensure that effective controls operate within their service areas. However, we undertake follow up work to 
provide independent assurance that agreed actions arising from audit reviews are implemented in a timely manner. 

17



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

4 RESOURCING AND PERFORMANCE

4.1 The staffing position in Internal Audit is as reported when the Annual Internal Audit Plan was agreed. This is made up of:

 Head of Internal Audit  0.40 Post shared with Cambridge City and South Cambs DC
 Group Auditor  1.46 
 Principal Auditor 0.50 
 Senior Auditor  1.80 
 Auditor 1.00 

Total in post 5.16 FTE

Since the audit plan was approved resources have reduced slightly as a result of a Senior Auditor temporarily reducing their hours to 0.8fte.  
The impact of this is the reduction in approximately 30 available audit days, 2-3 reviews.  Any audits that may not be delivered as a result of 
the reduced resources will be risk assessed and prioritised during the next six months.  

4.2 100% of recommendations (41) finalised in 2015 have been agreed. 

4.3 The level of sickness within the team is very low with 0.58 days sickness per person to September 2015 compared to a corporate target of 
2.5 days at the mid-year stage.

4.4 As part of Internal Audit’s strategic plan to increase working efficiencies we are continuing to develop our use of audit automation and 
business processes. A client survey is being developed and will be circulated during the second part of the year.  This will be used to inform 
the internal audit self-assessment against professional standards, which is due to be undertaken over the same period, along with any 
resultant management action plan.

18



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

5 PROGRESS AGAINST AGREED AUDIT PLAN

Where audits are “shaded”, these represent those jobs not started at 30 September 2015.

AUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

RECOMMENDATIONS MADE COMMENTARY

Critical High Medium Low Total
CORE SYSTEM 
ASSURANCE WORK

Core systems are those that are fundamental to providing control assurance for internal financial control and allow the 
s.151 officer to make his statement included in the authority’s Annual Statement of Accounts. The External Auditor also 
places reliance on the work undertaken by Internal Audit on core systems. 

Budgetary Control All A risk based review concentrating on 
budget management within one or more 
directorates. – TO COMMENCE QTR 3

Payroll Serco / Resources A cyclical review of key controls. – TO 
COMMENCE QTR 3

Fixed Asset Accounting Serco / Resources A cyclical review of key controls. – TO 
COMMENCE QTR 4

HR IT System Serco / Resources A review of the control framework during 
the design and implementation of a new 
HR IT system designed to enable self-
serve processes. – IN PROGRESS.
 
A further post implementation review to 
test key controls in relation to starters, 
Leavers, exit processes and expense 
claims will be determined once the 
system is operational 

Cash and Banking Serco / Resources Significant 0 1 4 6 11 Review of key controls – IN DRAFT

Financial System Project 
Implementation (Agresso)

Serco / Resources A review of the control framework during 
the design and implementation of a new 
Finance system, including Accounts 
Payable, Accounts Receivable and 
General Ledger. IN PROGRESS.

19



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
AND ASSURANCE 
FRAMEWORK

Each year the Council is obliged to issue a statement on the effectiveness of its governance arrangements. This section 
details audit work that specifically relates to the production of the Annual Governance Statement, as well as high level 
governance reviews.

Annual Governance Statement 
Review

All COMPLETED. Presented as draft to Audit Committee on 29 June 2015 and final agreed by Audit Committee on 21 
September 2015

Annual Audit Opinion / Progress 
Report

All COMPLETED. Presented to Audit Committee on 29 June 2015. Progress report due to be presented to Audit Committee 
on 9 November 2015

Internal Audit Effectiveness / 
Audit Committee Effectiveness

All COMPLETED. Presented to Audit Committee on 29 June 2015

Investigations Team Annual 
Report

All COMPLETED. Presented to Audit Committee on 29 June 2015

Annual Audit Plan All TO COMMENCE QTR 3 FOR 2016 / 2017

Anti-Fraud Culture All NFI Initiative – on-going review of data matches and liaison with 3rd parties where appropriate. Further data matches will 
be released during the year for investigation – IN PROGRESS

Liaison with the Investigations Team and evaluation of controls resulting from frauds ongoing

Information Governance All Liaison and strategic overview as part of the Strategic Governance Board, Information Governance Group and liaison with 
the Compliance Team, Governance - ONGOING

Risk Management All Attendance at Risk Working Group. ONGOING

Assurance Framework All TO COMMENCE IN QTR 4

Corporate Fraud Strategy and 
Development 

All Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, Fraud Response Plan, Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy. IN PROGRESS

Partnership Governance Serco / Resources TO COMMENCE IN QTR 4

20



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

STRATEGIC AND 
OPERATIONAL RISKS

Internal Audit provides support to Council and Directorate objectives by testing the effectiveness of controls designed to 
mitigate identified risks

Connecting Families-Phase 2 People A review of the Connecting Families 
Outcome Plan as part of the phase 2 of 
the programme. – IN PROGRESS

Carbon Reduction Growth and 
Regeneration

Significant 0 0 1 4 5 Review the arrangements for CRC 
reporting as a result of legislative 
changes and data validity. FINAL

Clare Lodge People and 
Communities

A review of income arrangements to 
ensure that processes maximise 
receipts. – TO COMMENCE IN QTR 3

Commissioning and 
Procurement

People and 
Communities

Review new commissioning procedures, 
to include a look at whether all aspects 
of financial accountability / procurement 
have been appropriately incorporated 
into the new people and communities 
directorate. – IN PROGRESS

Better Care Fund People and 
Communities

Review governance and risk 
management arrangements for the 
Better Care Fund pooled budgets. – TO 
COMMENCE QTR 3

Care Act Compliance People and 
Communities

Review of policy arrangements to ensure 
they are Care Act compliant and reflect 
working arrangements. – TO 
COMMENCE QTR 3

21



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

STRATEGIC AND 
OPERATIONAL RISKS

Internal Audit provides support to Council and Directorate objectives by testing the effectiveness of controls designed to 
mitigate identified risks

Regulatory Services Governance A review of governance and process 
arrangements within Regulatory 
Services following reorganisation, 
Including outcomes for the customer 
experience. TO COMMENCE QTR 4

Coroner’s Office Governance Review of support services processes as 
a result of proposed centralisation of 
coroner’s services. To also include a 
general review of allowances. – TO 
COMMENCE QTR 4

Schools People and 
Communities

Review of financial and governance arrangements in a selection of 
schools

Remaining schools to be undertaken 
during QTRS 3 / 4

Castor Primary – payroll f/up People and 
Communities

Significant 0 0 1 2 3 Most recommendations had been 
implemented with a good demonstration 
of segregation of duties. FINAL

Schools - Health and Safety 
Statutory Testing 

Resources A themed review across school 
establishments to ensure robust 
processes are in place to ensure that 
statutory requirements are met.
IN PROGRESS

Schools – Gifts and Hospitality People and 
Communities

Review the effectiveness and 
implementation of the recently 
introduced schools gifts and hospitality 
policy. A themed review across school 
establishments. – IN PROGRESS

22



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

STRATEGIC AND 
OPERATIONAL RISKS

Internal Audit provides support to Council and Directorate objectives by testing the effectiveness of controls designed to 
mitigate identified risks

Resources - RECAP Resources Review the project management of the 
expanding Material Recycling Facility.
Possibility for a joint audit with our 
shared service partners. TO 
COMMENCE IN QTR 4 subject to 
discussion with other authorities.

Data Security – Mobile / 
Technology

Resources Review the control of data security on 
mobile/remote technology and the 
proposed move to cloud based servers.
TO COMMENCE IN QTR 4

IT Strategy Resources A review of selected projects which 
support and form part of the overall IT 
Digital Strategy - TO COMMENCE IN 
QTR 4

Pensions Governance A review to ensure that tier bandings 
have been applied appropriately 
following pension changes in April 2014. 
– IN PROGRESS

Strategic Housing People and 
Communities

A review of governance and process 
arrangements within Strategic Housing 
to include consideration for outcomes 
such as the customer experience. - TO 
COMMENCE IN QTR 4

23



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

Contracts: A review of contract letting and management control processes for some 
specific contracts

TO COMMENCE IN QTR 3 / 4

Projects All Reviews of project framework or specific projects, either across the life 
of a project or concentrating on particular stages such as governance, 
feasibility, delivery or post-implementation review

Capital Project Management Resources Act as a critical friend during the 
implementation of a project management 
governance framework. – IN 
PROGRESS

Value For Money Reviews All To be undertaken subject to resources

EXTERNAL WORKS Work which generates income for the council

Vivacity 4 rolled forward reviews completed
5 reviews in progress

24



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

GRANT CLAIM 
CERTIFICATION

Certification of claims in relation to UK and European funding requirements

Bus Service Operators 2014/15 Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified A grant to support bus services, including community transport services.

Local Transport Funding Grant 
2014/15.

Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified This grant is used by local authorities for small transport improvement schemes costing less than £5 
million and also for planning and managing the road networks. 

Local Transport Funding – 
Additional Highways Grant

Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified A grant to support local authorities in funding capital costs for integrated transport measures and 
highway maintenance schemes.

Pinch Point Grant 2014/15 Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified A fund to help local authorities keep traffic moving and remove bottlenecks on the local highways 
network.

Severe Weather Grant 2014/15 Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified A scheme to support local authorities with costs in dealing with pothole repairs.

Local Sustainable Transport 
Grant

Growth and 
Regeneration

Certified A scheme to help local authorities to cut carbon emissions and create local growth.

Heritage Woodland in Action Growth and 
Regeneration

No further 
action

A grant to support the restoration of ancient urban woodland. – Confirmation that Internal Audit 
certification is no longer required. No further action

Disabled Facilities Grant 
2014/15

People and 
Communities

Certified Non ring-fenced capital funding towards Disabled Facilities grants that PCC can award to disabled 
clients for necessary housing alterations.

Troubled Families People and 
Communities

Results based funding to support families meeting certain criteria. – TO COMMENCE QTR 3

25



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

OTHER RESOURCE 
PROVISION

Throughout the year audit activities will include reviews that have not been specified within the plan and may include 
management requests as a result of changing risks. In addition there will be a number of follow ups of previous audit 
activities. Finally, a number of jobs will overlap between financial years and require some time to complete. 

Carry Forward Provision Provision for the completion of 2014-15 audits

Budgetary Control People and 
Communities

Significant 0 0 3 0 3 FINAL - An overall assurance can be 
given on the processes in place to 
manage Adult Social Care and Health & 
Wellbeing budgets, including the 
monitoring of savings. 

Liquid Logic IT system Governance Significant 0 0 1 1 2 FINAL - The granting of access and 
change of access for staff/users to either 
LCS or EHM is considered to be well 
controlled.

Payroll Overpayments follow up Serco / Resources Significant 0 0 3 1 4 DRAFT ISSUED

Travel and Subsistence follow 
up

Serco / Resources N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A MEMO ISSUED – All previous 
recommendations had been 
implemented

Translation Services People and 
Communities

IN PROGRESS

Petty Cash – St Georges People and 
Communities

Limited 0 3 3 3 9 DRAFT ISSUED awaiting response

Petty Cash – Childrens Services People and 
Communities

Limited 0 9 7 8 24 DRAFT ISSUED awaiting response

Fuel Cards Serco / Resources Limited 0 1 6 2 9 DRAFT ISSUED awaiting response

26



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS MADEAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

OTHER RESOURCE 
PROVISION

Throughout the year audit activities will include reviews that have not been specified within the plan and may include 
management requests as a result of changing risks. In addition there will be a number of follow ups of previous audit 
activities. Finally, a number of jobs will overlap between financial years and require some time to complete. 

Carry Forward Provision Provision for the completion of 2014-15 audits

School C People and 
Communities

No Assurance 0 14 10 4 28 FINAL– See Executive Summary in 
Section 4

Statutory Compliance Testing Resources A review across establishments to 
ensure robust processes are in place to 
ensure that statutory requirements are 
met – IN PROGRESS

Mobile Phones – Value For 
Money Review`

All Limited 0 6 9 3 18 DRAFT REPORT AND MEMOS issued 
awaiting response27



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

RECOMMENDATIONS IMPLEMENTEDAUDIT ACTIVITY Department ASSURANCE
LEVEL

Critical High Medium Low Total

COMMENTARY

OTHER RESOURCE 
PROVISION

Throughout the year audit activities will include reviews that have not been specified within the plan and may include 
management requests as a result of changing risks. In addition there will be a number of follow ups of previous audit 
activities. Finally, a number of jobs will overlap between financial years and require some time to complete. 

Follow–up Provision: Revisiting audits after 6 months to monitor the implementation of recommendations

Frameworki – follow up People and 
Communities

IN PROGRESS

Electronic Call monitoring follow 
up

People and 
Communities

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A MEMO ISSUED - A change in focus 
since the original report was issued to 
outcome based monitoring of care 
services delivery means that use of the 
ECM system is no longer considered 
mandatory.

Direct Payments follow up People and 
Communities

IN PROGRESS

28



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

AUDIT ACTIVITY Department COMMENTARY

Provision for unplanned 
activities:

Internal Audit provides control and risk advice to officers/management/members as a result of changing risks. This audit 
activity covers review work that is additional and was not specified as part of the original audit plan

The Beeches Primary School People and 
Communities

Control advice in relation to procedures for purchasing cards. COMPLETE

Care Services Complaint People and 
Communities / 
Governance

A joint exercise undertaken. Audit activities included review of electronic call monitoring information, invoicing along with 
information within the care management system for a specific supplier and service user. COMPLETE

School A People and 
Communities / 

Resources

Investigation into allegations of inappropriate spending.  Undertaken jointly with fraud team. ON-GOING

School B People and 
Communities / 

Resources

Assistance provided to an external organisation as a result of internal audit activities historically undertaken. COMPLETE

Parking Charges PCN’s Governance Management request – A review of cancellation processes. COMPLETE

Cash Handling People and 
Communities / 

Resources

Investigation into cash handling and establishment procedures.  Undertaken jointly with fraud team.
ON-GOING

Mobile Phone Usage People and 
Communities

Management request for data analysis in relation to specific users. COMPLETE

Mobile Phone - FOI Governance Management request for data analysis in relation to a FOI in relation to Councillors mobile phone usage and expenditure. 
COMPLETE

Mobile Phone Invoicing and 
Portal Information

Governance Consultancy advice regarding mobile phone data and reporting information via the telephone supplier portal. COMPLETE

29



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

6 AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED: OPINION OF LIMITED ASSURANCE OR NO ASSURANCE

AUDIT ACTIVITY ASSURANCE RATING DATE TO AUDIT COMMITTEE

1. School C Limited 9 November 2015

30



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

School C: Executive Summary

Introduction 

The school recently identified concerns relating to delays in paying its invoices, and to its failure to produce accounts for its private funds (also known 
as the School Fund). Invoice payment delays had resulted in warning letters threatening discontinuation of services, and in one case legal action. 
Although the school has undertaken its own investigation, an unplanned audit was requested to identify the extent of issues. 

Objectives and Scope

The purpose of the audit was to:

 Establish whether satisfactory controls exist within, and the extent of compliance with, the school’s finance processes relating to procurement 
and voluntary funds.

 Assess compliance with PCC’s Scheme for Financial Management for Schools, including the Supplementary Financial Regulations.

The findings detailed in this report are based mainly on discussions with officers who were present during the visits, evidence seen during the audit 
visits, and discussion at the subsequent exit meeting with the Headteacher and School Leader.

The scope covered ordering and payments, with particular focus on purchasing methods and timeliness of payment; examination of the school’s bank 
accounts; and examination of the School Fund.

Main Findings

The two main findings from the audit were:

 The school’s financial procedures document does not adequately describe the school’s financial processes, and the financial scheme of 
delegation set by the Governing Body is not accurately reflected in the document. At least one high value payment appears not to have 
received the necessary approval from the Finance, Premises & Personnel Committee (FPPC), and the procedures document may have been 
a contributory factor in this.

 Some procurement practices were noted which will undermine the school’s attempts to control its budget. Examples include purchase orders 
(POs) being raised retrospectively; non-compliance with the requisition form process; significant delays in paying invoices; expenditure where 
value for money may not have been obtained, and shared access to, and usage of, the school’s Government Procurement Card (GPC)

31



Annual Audit Opinion 2015 / 2016

Conclusion and Opinion

It was not possible, in the absence of the Finance Manager and an appropriate financial procedures document, to establish exactly what the school’s 
financial processes should have been, and whether these had actually been applied. The Financial Administration Document (FAD) was adopted 
from a council template. However it is intended that schools adopting the FAD tailor it to detail their own procedures. The school has not done this, 
and the current version of the FAD would be of limited use to any officer covering the Finance Manager role. It is understood that the Finance 
Manager has now resigned, and the school is currently advertising for a School Business Manager, which demonstrates the need for a detailed 
procedures document.

The purpose of a PO is to record the financial commitment from a purchase against the budget, until the invoice is paid. Failure to raise POs at the 
time that goods/services are ordered, presents a risk that the funds earmarked for them are used elsewhere, leading to overspent budget. There is 
little or no benefit to be gained from raising POs retrospectively. Testing found no evidence to suggest that the Finance Manager was aware of 
purchases before the invoice was received, which may have had some impact on the time taken to pay the invoices. However the Finance Manager 
could not be asked about this.

Very few controls appear to apply to the school’s GPC, and as several officers appear to have used the GPC, there is no protection for the named 
cardholder who must be accountable for all transactions. Similarly any officer with access to the GPC will not be protected from suspicion if an 
inappropriate transaction is made. 

The school has been delegated authority to spend its budget how it sees fit, providing it adheres to the City Council’s Scheme for Financial 
Management for Schools, and associated Supplementary Financial Regulations. Examples of expenditure were identified which did not appear to 
demonstrate value for money for the school. It is not clear whether procurement of first class rail and overseas travel, and staff rewards, were 
consistent with approved school policies. There was no evidence in GB and FPPC minutes that these items had been discussed, but budget 
pressures were reported to FPPC at these times.

Internal Audit shares the school’s concerns relating to the School Fund accounts. It was noted that the accounts had been constructed to cover the 
previous four years, but not all transactions could be accounted for. The school’s concerns about delays in payment of invoices were substantiated by 
audit testing which found that only a third of the invoices examined had been paid within 30 days. If management examine invoices before they sign 
the related cheque, then routine payment delays ought to have become obvious, and the reasons for them investigated. It is important that sufficient 
managerial oversight is provided to financial matters.

The audit opinion is No Assurance, in relation to the areas examined.  

It should be noted that since the audit review was conducted a new Finance Manager has been appointed. The findings from this report will be 
followed up during November 2015 to establish if recommendations have been implemented effectively.

32



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 5

9 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources
Contact Officer(s): John Harrison, Corporate Director Resources

Steven Pilsworth, Service Director, Financial Resources
Tel. 452520
Tel. 384564

USE OF CONSULTANTS – UPDATE REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Corporate Director Resources Deadline date : N/A
  

1. That Audit Committee consider the update report on the use of Consultants for the period 1 
October 2014 – 30 September 2015.

 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT
1.1 This report is submitted to Audit Committee following the Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee 

review into Peterborough City Council’s use of consultants, the subsequent endorsement of their 
recommendations by Cabinet, and the agreement of Audit Committee to undertake an on-going 
monitoring role.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT
2.1 Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee recommended that the on-going monitoring role at 

Member level is undertaken by Audit Committee. Audit Committee considered their approach to 
this role at their meeting of 26 March 2012. This report is in line with the approach agreed and 
subsequent updates, and is in accordance with the Committees’ Terms of Reference: 

 2.2.1.12 To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any 
Council body; and

 2.2.1.16 To consider the Council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice.

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy Item / 
Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

N/A

4. REVIEW OF THE USE OF CONSULTANTS
4.1 In March 2010, the Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee requested a review into 

Peterborough City Council’s use of consultants.  A cross-party review group was established to 
undertake this work on behalf of the Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee.

4.2 The report from the Consultancy Review Group was issued in March 2011. Scrutiny also 
recommended that on-going monitoring of the use of consultants should fall to Audit Committee. 
Audit Committee considered this role at their meeting of 26 March 2012.

4.3 A further report, outlining the information requested, was discussed at the meeting of 5 
November 2012. Further updates have been considered at the meetings of 4 February 2013, 4 

33



November 2013, and again on November 3 2014. This report continues the regular reporting to 
Audit Committee.

4.4 Use of consultants

The definition of consultancy is based upon standard procurement classification. As such it 
covers a wide range of companies and services. Expenditure is included here if the company 
meets the standard classification, irrespective of exactly what services have been provided.

4.5 The spend for the last six full years, plus in current year to date, for both consultancy and interim 
spend is shown below. The trend over that period is for a reduction in spend.

Consultancy
£m

Interim
£m

Total
£m

2009-10 7.1 1.4 8.5
2010-11 5.3 1.1 6.4
2011-12 4.7 0.7 5.4
2012-13 3.5 0.8 4.3
2013-14 3.3 1.2 4.5
2014-15
April 14 – September 14*
October 14 – March 15

1.1 
0.8

0.5
0.6 

1.7
1.4

2015-16
(6 month period to end 
September 2015)

0.5 0.5 1.0

* Breakdown provided to Audit Committee 3 November 2014

4.6 Consultancy spend continued to reduce in 2014-15. Interim spend was similar to 2014-15, mainly 
due to the continued need to support improvement and transformation projects in Adults and 
Childrens services although differing interim roles were undertaken between years. There was 
interim spend within Resources, to support the challenging budget process last year and one off 
projects requiring financial support.

4.7 It should be noted that the exact pattern of spend depends entirely on what projects are 
underway in the Council. These projects may be one-off, but given the scale of some projects 
they may continue across more than one year. Spend on consultants occurs across both the 
revenue and capital budgets of the Council, some of which is externally grant funded.

4.8 The policy agreed by Cabinet and Audit Committee to manage use of consultants, including the 
need for a business case to be produced, remains in place. The Corporate Management Team 
have reviewed all arrangements as part of the 2015/16 budget process, and considered the 
necessary exit strategies to reduce reliance on interims. The action taken has reduced the need 
for interims in place as at 30 September 2015 compared with the previous year.

4.9 A list of companies used for the period 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015 is included in 
appendix 1, indicating the breadth of these companies and services that are included in the 
standard classification and in the analysis in this report. Appendix 2 includes the breakdown of 
spend by department for the same period, and Appendix 3 includes those interims in role for 
more than one year as at 30 September 2015.

5. CONSULTATION
5.1 Audit Committee considered options for how they wish to monitor use of consultants in the future 

at their meeting of 26 March 2012. Subsequent discussions at the meetings referred to have 
refined the information they wish to monitor.

6 ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES
6.1 That Audit Committee consider the update report on the use of consultants.

34



7 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
7.1 The recommendations are in line with the recommendations of Scrutiny, and the view of Audit 

Committee in undertaking this role.

8 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
8.1 Audit Committee considered options for how they wish to monitor use of consultants in the future 

at their meeting of 26 March 2012.

9 IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Where appropriate, the policy outlines implications for areas such as Legal, Human Resources, 

Procurement and Finance.

9.2 This report does not have implications for specific wards. 

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985)

 Consultancy Review Report, March 2011;
 Report to Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee, 8 November 2011;
 Report to Sustainable Growth Scrutiny Committee, 6 March 2012; 
 Reports to Cabinet and Audit Committee 26 March 2012;
 Report to Audit Committee of 5 November 2012;
 Report to Audit Committee of 4 February 2013;
 Report to Audit Committee of 4 November 2013; and
 Report to Audit Committee of 3 November 2014 and supplementary report to Audit 

Committee of 2 February 2015.

11 APPENDICES

 Appendix 1 - list of companies used during the period 1 October 2014 and 30 September 
2015 with project breakdown;

 Appendix 2 - Spend by department; and
 Appendix 3 – consultants/interims in place for more than one year as at 30 September 

2015.

35



Appendix 1 - List of companies with project descriptions 
Period of 1 October 2014 – 31 March 2015 (2014/15) being spend since the last Audit Committee report

Supplier Project / Initiative Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

Association of Electoral Administrators Consultancy services - Electoral Review (Fin.Year 2013-14). 5,077 5,077
Association of Electoral Administrators 
Total  5,077  5,077

Cambridgeshire County Council
SACRE and Religious Education course programme 
development 2014 - 2015. 6,800 6,800

Cambridgeshire County Council Total   6,800 6,800
CIPFA Business Ltd Interim Finance Manager – Business Planning and Reporting 2,120 2,120
CIPFA Business Ltd Total   2,120 2,120

David Hawman
Information Analysis & Data support to Performance & 
Information team 5,400 5,400

David Hawman Total   5,400 5,400
Green Park Interim and Exec Ltd Interim Head of Legal Services 14,300 14,300
Green Park Interim and Exec Ltd Total   14,300 14,300

Hoare Lea
Peterborough Football Club -  Moys End Stand and Skills 
Centre 11,000 11,000

Hoare Lea Total  11,000  11,000
Kealey-HR HR Support and union liaison 13,563 13,563
Kealey-HR Total   13,563 13,563
Olsen Partnership Limited Re branding 2,350 2,350
Olsen Partnership Limited Total  2,350  2,350
P McCourt Services Limited Interim Head of Legal and Governance 38,584 38,584
P McCourt Services Limited Total   38,584 38,584

Peter Brett Associates
Provision of specialist consultancy services in order to adopt a 
Community infrastructure levy (CIL) 5,899 5,899

Peter Brett Associates Total  5,899  5,899
Zero CO2 Project 2,850 2,850
Peterborough DNA programme and Future Cities 
Demonstrator 13,373 13,373

Peterborough Environment City Trust

Peterborough DNA Programme 2,500 2,500
Peterborough Environment City Trust Total  18,723  18,723

36



Supplier Project / Initiative Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

Project Management and Technical Advisor Services 
Ravensthorpe Primary 12,600 12,600
Project manager and technical adviser - City of Peterborough 
free school build project 1,708 1,708

Rider Levett Bucknall UK Ltd

Project Management and Technical Advisor Services Fulbridge 
Academy 11,500 11,500

Rider Levett Bucknall UK Ltd Total  25,808  25,808
Adult Social Care Procurement Support 37,236 37,236
Adult Social Care Programme 81,191 81,191
Adult Social Care Transformation Programme 124,689 124,689
Care Bill implementation, including review of systems 60,894 60,894
Childrens Social care improvement 38,931 38,931
Creation of GIS re tree management 2,000 2,000
EDRM 22,883 22,883
Energy Conservation Works - Phase 1&2 10,013 10,013
Fletton Quays and Growth 8,546 8,546
Interim Housing Finance Lead 2,826 2,826
Interim Manager Head of ASC finance 38,940 38,940
Interim Manager Head of Family Support 35,069 35,069
Interim Manager LD Commissioning 82,240 82,240
Interim Renewable Energy Finance Manager 29,853 29,853
Introduction of Electronic Core Monitoring across domiciliary 
care 16,853 16,853
Pharmacy Needs Assessment 65,906 65,906
Programme Manager (Customer Experience & ASC) 10,273 10,273
Programme Manager Adult Social Care 30,046 30,046
Project Manager (Assistive Technology) 83,043 83,043
Public Health 5,992 5,992
Skills centre support 3,400 3,400
Superfast Broadband Project 40,701 40,701
Waste 2020 Programme 34,347 34,347

Serco Ltd

Westcombe Industries Interim Management 21,756 21,756

37



Supplier Project / Initiative Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

Serco Ltd Total  533,233 354,393 887,626

The Froglife Trust
Habitat Enhancement Project Proposal in relation to Fletton 
Parkway widening adjacent to Orton Pit SAC 6,663 6,663

The Froglife Trust Total  6,663  6,663
Tribal Education Ltd General Performance Review - Professional Services 1,575 1,575
Tribal Education Ltd Total  1,575  1,575
URS Scott Wilson Ltd Junction 17-2 Improvement Scheme 232,184 232,184
URS Scott Wilson Ltd Total  232,184  232,184
WESTCO TRADING LIMITED Communication support 147,460 147,460
WESTCO TRADING LIMITED Total   147,460 147,460
Grand Total 807,442 617,688 1,425,130

Period of 1 April 2015 – 30 September 2015 (2015/16 to date)

Supplier Project / Initiative Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

AECOM I & E Ltd Junction 17-2 Improvement Scheme - site supervision 143,136 143,136
AECOM I & E Ltd Total  143,136  143,136

Chatham Associates Ltd
Interim Finance Manager role in Financial Services -  support 
to the Serco PSSP contract and Energy initiative projects 15,300 15,300

Chatham Associates Ltd Total   15,300 15,300
CIPFA PFI proposal 15,660 15,660
CIPFA Total  15,660  15,660
CIPFA Business Ltd Interim Finance Manager – Business Planning and Reporting 47,170 47,170
CIPFA Business Ltd Total   47,170 47,170

David Hawman
Information Analysis & Data support to Performance & 
Information team 6,480 6,480

David Hawman Total   6,480 6,480

John Harris Consulting Limited
Consultancy services - Peterborough Self Improving Schools 
Network 2,100 2,100

John Harris Consulting Limited Total  2,100  2,100
Kealey-HR HR Support and union liaison 6,781 6,781

38



Supplier Project / Initiative Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

Kealey-HR Total   6,781 6,781
P McCourt Services Limited Interim Head of Legal and Governance 9,268 9,268
P McCourt Services Limited Total   9,268 9,268
Penna Plc Interim Change Manager for BCF/Care Act 91,063 91,063
Penna Plc Total   91,063 91,063

Peterborough Environment City Trust
Peterborough DNA programme and Future Cities 
Demonstrator 13,329 13,329

Peterborough Environment City Trust Total  13,329  13,329
Adult Social Care Procurement Support 65,572 65,572
Adult Social Care Programme 32,294 32,294
Adult Social Care Transformation Programme 54,383 54,383
BCF Lead Project Manager 45,279 45,279
Care Act implementation 35,646 35,646
Care Bill implementation, including review of systems 655 655
Childrens Social care improvement 36,597 36,597
Interim Commissioning Manager 33,288 33,288
Interim Housing Finance Lead 172 172
Interim Manager LD Commissioning 78,324 78,324
Pharmacy Needs Assessment 24,075 24,075
Programme Manager (Customer Experience & ASC) 72,930 72,930

Serco Ltd

Waste 2020 Programme 40,072 40,072
Serco Ltd Total  287,548 231,738 519,286

The Froglife Trust
Habitat Enhancement Project Proposal in relation to Fletton 
Parkway widening adjacent to Orton Pit SAC 3,372 3,372

The Froglife Trust Total  3,372  3,372
URS Scott Wilson Ltd Junction 17-2 Improvement Scheme 73,096 73,096
URS Scott Wilson Ltd Total  73,096  73,096
WESTCO TRADING LIMITED Communication support 38,868 38,868
WESTCO TRADING LIMITED Total   38,868 38,868
Grand Total 538,241 446,667 984,908

39



Appendix 2 - Spend by department 

This table breaks down the consultancy and interim spend shown in appendix 1 outlined in section 4.5 by department:

Fin Yr Department Consultant Interim
Grand 
Total

Governance 5,077 71,847 76,923
Growth and Regeneration 289,990 289,990
People and Communities (ASC) 331,352 261,018 592,370
People and Communities (CHS) 38,931 35,069 74,000
Public Health 5,992 5,992

2014/15

Resources 136,101 249,755 385,855
2014/15 Total 807,442 617,688 1,425,130

Governance 22,529 22,529
Growth and Regeneration 232,933 38,868 271,801
People and Communities (ASC) 210,879 322,629 533,508
People and Communities (CHS) 36,597 36,597

2015/16 (to date)

Resources 57,832 62,642 120,473
2015/16 Total 538,241 446,667 984,908
Grand Total 1,345,683 1,064,355 2,410,038

40



Appendix 3 - Interims utilised for more than a year as at end of September 2015

The following appendix lists roles that were being utilised at the end of September 2015, and were being utilised in some form 12 months earlier. Note that 
not all individuals will have been employed continuously in that period, some will have worked for ad hoc periods as necessary, and/or operate on a part 
time basis.

The Corporate Management Team have reviewed all arrangements as part of the 2015/16 budget process, and considered the necessary exit strategies to 
reduce reliance on interims.

 ICT and information governance
 Interim Manager LD Commissioning

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank

42



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 6

9 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Committee Member(s) responsible: Resources portfolio holder, Cllr Seaton
Contact Officer(s): John Harrison, Corporate Director: Resources

Steven Pilsworth, Service Director: Financial Services
 452398
 384569

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR UP-DATE

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : John Harrison, Corporate Director: Resources  Deadline date : N/A

Audit Committee is asked to

1. To review current performance against the Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) set in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 recommends that 
Members receive reports on its treasury management polices, practices and activities, 
including an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an 
annual report after its close.

1.2 The annual strategy is approved by Council as part of the MTFS and the final performance 
against the strategy is reported to Audit Committee in June alongside the Statement of 
Accounts.  This report forms the mid-year review.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 To report current performance and the forecast outturn position against the strategy. 

2.2 This is in accordance with the Committees’ Terms of Reference – 2.2.1.16 To consider the 
Council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary actions to 
ensure compliance with best practice.

3. TIMESCALE 

Is this a Major Policy Item / 
Statutory Plan?

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

N/A

4. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

4.1 The Prudential Code underpins the system of capital finance.  Local authorities determine 
their own programmes for capital investment in long term and current assets that are 
central to the delivery of quality local public services.  Prudential indicators are developed 
as part of the annual MTFS process to ensure that:

a) Capital investment plans are affordable;

43



b) All external borrowing and other long term liabilities are within prudent and     
    sustainable levels; and
c) Treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with professional good 
    advice.

4.2 The 2015/16 Prudential Indicators are shown in Appendix 1. The Council’s performance to 
date and forecast performance are all within the limits set in the MTFS.  

4.3 The Council has continued to operate a restrictive lending list due to the continued 
economic uncertainty. Surplus cash is only invested for short periods with Barclays 
(maximum £5m), Bank of Scotland (part of the Lloyds Banking Group, maximum £5m), 
other Local Authorities and the Debt Management Office (DMO).  

4.4 In June 2015, Barclays was downgraded by a major credit reference agency to A-2 for short 
term investments.  In accordance with the TMS, surplus funds were immediately withdrawn 
from Barclays and invested with the DMO as this rating fell below minimum requirements.  
Overall, governance in the banking sector has improved significantly, therefore it is not 
anticipated that the downgrading will be long term and funds will be re-invested with 
Barclays as soon as the rating returns to an acceptable level.

4.5 The ratings from all three credit rating agencies for the Bank of Scotland meet the minimum 
criteria set out in the Treasury Strategy, per the MTFS. It is used to invest cash on an 
instant access basis to ensure cash is kept liquid to cover cash flow fluctuations. Daily 
treasury management practices therefore concentrate on short term cash flow requirements 
and long term borrowing needs.

4.6 The Council has continued to borrow to fund the capital programme. Loans have been 
arranged at varying interest rates to achieve budget certainty and for varying periods to fit in 
with the Councils debt maturity profile.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The Council’s Prudential Code and Treasury Management Strategy 2015-2025 has 
undergone full consultation and been through the scrutiny process as it forms part of the  
annual MTFS.

5.2 The Council continues to liaise with its treasury advisors, Capita Asset Services.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

6.1 As set out in the report.

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 This report and update is given to the Committee to review performance against the TMS 
set in the MTFS.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The ‘The Prudential Code and Treasury Management Strategy 2015-2025’ is required to 
be prepared in accordance with the Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice 2011.  This report sets out the performance against the associated indicators.  
The options are therefore limited.

44



9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 To provide the Committee the opportunity to review current performance against the 
revised Prudential Indicators.  

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
(Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities –2011 Edition, CIPFA; and
 Treasury Management in the Public Services, Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 

Guidance Notes – 2011 Edition, CIPFA

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix A - Treasury Management Strategy-Prudential Indicators – Forecast Outturn as 
at 30th September 2015.

 

45



4

Appendix A

Treasury Management Strategy – Prudential Indicators – Forecast Outturn as at 
30th September 2015
The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities provides a framework for local 
authority capital finance to ensure that:

(a) capital expenditure plans are affordable,

(b) all external borrowing and other long term liabilities are within prudent and 
sustainable levels;

(c) treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with professional good 
practice.

In taking decisions in relation to (a) and (c) above, the local authority is accountable by 
providing a clear and transparent framework.

The Code requires the Council to set a range of Prudential Indicators for the forthcoming 
financial year and at least the following two financial years. The Council has set out indicators 
for the next 10 financial years in line with setting a 10 year budget. During the financial year to 
date the Council has operated within the treasury limits and Prudential Indicators set out in 
the Council’s Annual Treasury Management Strategy. The actual and forecast outturn for the 
Prudential Indicators for the financial year is detailed below. The indicators include the Invest 
to Save scheme however the costs of borrowing associated with the scheme will be offset by 
the income generated by these projects.

The 2015/16 Prudential Indicators are shown below and the Council’s performance to date 
against them.  All performance is within the limits.

1. Indicator 1: Capital Expenditure

This indicator is the estimated capital expenditure for the year based on the Capital 
Programme for that period. 

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Capital Expenditure 
 Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

Capital Expenditure £86.3m £29.4m £108.4m
Invest to Save £54.8m £0.4m £91.9m
Total £141.1m £29.8m £200.3m

The position shows the forecast as at 30th September 2015. The forecast is revised 
every month.  The forecast outturn is higher than the MTFS indicator due to the 
slippage of the capital budgets from 2014/15 to 2015/16.

2. Indicator 2: Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

The CFR measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow money in the long term 
for capital purposes.  Any capital expenditure which has not immediately been paid 
for will increase the CFR.

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Capital Financing 
Requirement Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

CFR b/fwd £482.9m £422.5m £422.5m
Underlying Need to 
Borrow £45.1m £13.4m £61.6m

Underlying Need to 
Borrow  - Invest to Save £54.8m £0.4m £91.9m

Total CFR C/fwd £582.8m £436.3m £576.0m

46



5

3. Indicator 3: Actuals and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue 
budget

The Council must estimate the proportion of the revenue budget, which is taken up in 
financing capital expenditure i.e. the net interest cost and to make provision to repay 
debt.

4. Indicator 4: Actuals and estimates of the incremental impact of capital  
investment on Council Tax

This indicator is intended to show the impact of the Council’s decisions about capital 
investment on the level of Council Tax required to support those decisions over the 
medium term.  

The calculation of this indicator has been done on the basis of the amount of the 
capital programme that is financed from borrowing.  The calculation is based on the 
interest assumption for borrowing that was included in the capital financing budget for 
the MTFS.  The revenue costs are divided by the estimated Council Tax base for the 
year, and performance is shown in the table below.

5. Indicator 5: Proportion of Gross Debt to the CFR

This indicator shows the proportion of the Council’s external borrowings (Gross Debt) 
against the CFR. 

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Proportion of Gross Debt to the 
CFR Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

CFR £582.9m £436.3m £576.0m
Gross Debt £513.5m £351.1m £497.6m
% of Gross Debt to CFR 88.1% 80.5% 86.4%

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Ratio of net financing costs to net 
revenue stream
 Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

Total Ratio 7.6% 7.2% 7.4%

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Incremental impact on capital 
investment decisions on Council 
Tax Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

A – Cap Fin Budget -Previous MTFS £29.275m £29.275m £29.275m
B – Cap Fin Budget -  Current £23.567m £21.908m £22.597m
C - Incremental change (B-A) (£5.708m) (£7.367m) (£6.678m)
D - Council Tax Base (1,000’s) 52.75 52.75 52.75
Total Incremental Impact (C/D) (£108.21) (£139.66) (£126.60)

47



6

6. Indicator 6: The Operational Boundary

The Operational Boundary is a measure of the day to day likely borrowing for the 
Council. The code recognises that circumstances might arise when the boundary 
might be exceeded temporarily, but if this continues for a lengthy period then it ought 
to be investigated.

This indicator takes into consideration the capital programme over the life of the 
MTFS and the ability to phase the borrowing over this period.  The indicator provides 
flexibility for the Council to take advantage of favourable interest rates in advance of 
the timing of the actual capital expenditure.  

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Operational Boundary

Indicator Actual 
@30.09.15

Forecast 
Outturn 

Borrowing £648.0m £313.0m £459.5m
Other Long Term Liabilities £38.5m £38.1m £38.1m
Total Operational Boundary £686.5m £351.1m £497.6m

7. Indicator 7: The Authorised Limit

The Authorised Limit represents the maximum amount the Council may borrow at any 
point in time in the year.  It is set at a level the Council considers is “prudent”.  

The indicator takes account of the capital financing requirement estimated at the start 
of each year, plus the expected net borrowing requirement for the year.  This makes 
allowance for the possibility that the optimum time to do all borrowing may be early in 
the year.  

The limits also incorporated margins to allow for exceptional short-term movements in 
the Council’s cash flow, bids from service departments to finance efficiencies, 
changes to the timing of capital payments and fluctuations in the realisation of capital 
receipts. 

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Authorised Limit

Indicator Actual 
@30.09.15

Forecast 
Outturn 

Borrowing £682.4m £313.0m £459.5m
Other Long Term Liabilities £38.5m £38.1m £38.1m
Total Authorised Limit £720.9m £351.1m £497.6m

It is ultra vires to exceed the Authorised Limit so this should be set to avoid 
circumstances in which the Council would need to borrow more money than this limit.  
However, the Council can revise the limit during the course of the year. The forecast 
outturn is lower than the indicator as the Council does not currently anticipate 
borrowing in advance of need due to the additional cost of holding the funds until 
required. 

8. Indicator 8: Fixed Interest rate exposure 

This indicator places an upper limit on the total amount of net borrowing which is at 
fixed rates secured against future interest rate movements.  The upper limit allows 
flexibility in applying a proportion of the investment portfolio to finance new capital 
expenditure.  It also reflects a position where the majority of borrowing is at fixed rate 
which provides budget certainty with 100% of borrowing being at fixed rate.  The 
upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure was set to allow for flexibility in applying a 
proportion of the investment portfolio to finance new capital expenditure.  It also 
reflected a position where the majority of borrowing was at fixed rates to provide 
budget certainty.

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Upper limit for fixed rate exposure

Indicator Actual Forecast 

48



7

@30.09.15 Outturn 

Upper Limit £720.9m £313.0m £459.5m
% of fixed interest rate exposure 100% 100% 100%

49



8

9. Indicator 9: Variable interest rate exposure

This indicator places an upper limit on the total amount of net borrowing (borrowing 
less investment) which is at variable rates subject to interest rate movements.  The 
intention is to keep the variable rate borrowing below 25% of the total gross borrowing 
(CFR).

The limit is expressed as the value of total borrowing less investments

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16Upper limit for variable rate 
exposure Indicator Actual 

@30.09.15
Forecast 
Outturn 

Upper Limit £180.2m £0.0m £0.0m
% of variable interest rate exposure 25% 25% 25%

The indicator for actual and forecast outturn is zero due to the current borrowing 
strategy of borrowing only at a fixed interest rate in the current economic climate of 
volatile interest rates. Borrowing at fixed interest rates provides budget certainty for 
the Council. 

10. Indicator 10: Maturity structure of borrowing

The prudential limits have been set with regard to the maturity structure of the 
Council’s borrowing, and reflected the relatively beneficial long term rates that were 
expected to be available over the next few years. The borrowing that the Council has 
actually taken up to the end of September is £313.0m (shown in the indicator below). 

Period
Upper 
Limit 

Indicator

Actual 
Borrowing 
@30.09.15

Actual 
Borrowing 
@30.09.15

Under 12 months* 40% 12% £38.5m
1 – 2 years 40% 2% £7.0m
2 – 5 years 80% 11% £33.1m
5 – 10 years 80% 5% £15.1m
Over 10 years 100% 70% £219.3m

Total Borrowing £313.0m

* The borrowing for under 12 months includes £17.5m of Lenders Option Borrowers 
Option (LOBO) loans. Although the loans are due to mature in 30-40 years time, they 
are classed as loans repayable within the financial year due to LOBO’s having a call-
in date every 6 months.  

Although this table is not a Prudential Indicator it gives a breakdown of the types of 
borrowing held by the Council and the average interest rates for each:

31 Mar 2015 30 Sep 2015

Borrowing
Amount 

(£m)
Average 
Interest 

Rate

Amount 
(£m)

Average 
Interest 

Rate
Long Term:
Public Works Loan Board 234.4 4.09% 234.4 4.09%
Market Loans    17.5 4.53%    17.5 4.53%
Local Enterprise Partnership      3.1 0.00%      3.1 0.00%
Short Term:
Local Authorities    51.0 1.58%    58.0 1.56%
Total ‘Market’ Borrowing  306.0  313.0
Public Finance Initiative & Leases     40.4     38.1
Total Borrowing  346.4  351.1

50



9

11. Indicator 11: Total Investments for periods longer than 364 days

Authorities are able to invest for longer than 364 days; this can be advantageous if 
higher rates are available.  However it would be unwise to lend a disproportionate 
amount of cash for too long a period particularly as the Council must maintain 
sufficient working capital for its operational needs.  

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16

Indicator Actual 
@30.09.15

Forecast 
Outturn 

Principal sums invested >364 days £6.0m £0.0m £0.0m

This indicator reflects the Council’s current lending policy of keeping investments 
short term for liquidity purposes. Also the Council has run down its cash balances 
over the last three financial years as an alternative to new borrowing and does not 
have the available cash balances to invest for long periods.

The indicator was set at £6m to allow for the accounting treatment of the Local 
Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS).  At present the Council has £2m deposited in 
the LAMS scheme with Lloyds TSB and this is treated as capital expenditure, as a 
loan to a third party, (see section 3.5 of the TMS).  There is currently no plan to 
extend this initiative.  The Council’s external auditors highlighted in a previous 
Statement of Accounts report that there was some debate about the accounting 
treatment for LAMS. Whilst the Council is confident of its accounting treatment as a 
capital loan, if the accounting treatment changed for this deposit for to be classed as 
an investment then this indicator would cover this investment. 

51



This page is intentionally left blank

52



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 7

9 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member responsible: Cllr David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources

Committee Member responsible: Councillor Aitken, Chair of Audit Committee

Contact Officer(s): Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance 

Ben Stevenson, Compliance Manager 
(Governance)

 452 361

 452 387

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance Deadline date : N/A

1. Audit Committee is asked to (a) receive, consider and endorse this report on the 
recommendations of the OSC inspection and (b) approve the revised corporate RIPA 
policy

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1. This report is submitted to the Committee as a scheduled report on the Council’s use of 
the RIPA powers in accordance with the established Work Programme 2015 / 2016.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on the action plan put 
in place to address the recommendations of the report which followed the Office of 
Surveillance Commissioner (OSC) inspection by His Honour Norman Jones QC. It also 
provides the opportunity for the approval of the revised corporate policy in light of the 
inspection. 

2.2 This report is to be considered in accordance with its Terms of Reference 2.2.1.14 -   To 
monitor Council policies on "raising concern at work" and the anti-fraud and anti-
corruption strategy and the Council's complaints process.

3. OFFICE OF SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER

3.1 The OSC aim to provide oversight of the conduct of covert surveillance activities by 
public authorities such as Peterborough City Council and ensure that is human rights 
compliant in accordance with RIPA.  The current Chief Surveillance Commissioner is 
the Right Honourable Lord Igor Judge.

3.2 The OSC has a cycle of inspection of public authorities. Local authorities are inspected 
every three years unless recommendation is made otherwise. Following an inspection, 
a report will be issued detailing findings and any recommendations. 

53



3.3 The OSC will also produce an annual report on the usage of RIPA powers and any 
themes highlighted during that year. 

4. INSPECTION REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

4.1 The inspection took place on 9 June 2015. The report was subsequently received on 
24 June 2015 and it was acknowledged that we would implement the 
recommendations. 

4.2 The report noted that both Kim Sawyer, Director of Governance and Senior 
Responsible Officer (SRO) for RIPA, and Ben Stevenson, Compliance Manager and 
Central Monitoring Officer (CMO) were both well informed and determined maintain 
compliance with the Act. Peter Gell, Head of Regulatory Services, was commended as 
highly experienced authorising officer. 

4.3 The recommendations of the report were 

 The number of authorising officers be reduced with those designated receiving 
training

 Recommendations made in the previous report in 2012 as regards the 
corporate policy be discharged and also additional changes arising from 2015 
be made to the said policy

 RIPA awareness be raised throughout the Council
 A regular training plan should be implemented

4.4 The inspection was seen as a positive and constructive experience for officers and the 
Council.

5. ACTION PLAN IN RESPONSE 

5.1 The policy had identified eight authorising officers along with the SRO and CMO. Given 
our low usage of RIPA powers, this was agreed to be more than necessary. We have 
reduced to three plus the SRO and CMO.

5.2 Training was undertaken on 10 June 2015 for twenty officers including authorising and 
applying officers. This will be run on a bi-annual basis with annual refresher training 
internally. 

5.3 The majority of the recommendations related to the policy itself which strengthen and 
improve it for officers. A summary of these is shown below. 

 Incorporation of the codes of practice reference to proportionality into the 
policy

 Placing the explanation of the crime threshold into the section on directed 
surveillance rather than later in the policy

 Ensuring that reference to seeking the advice of SRO or legal prior to 
requesting the authorisation of a covert human intelligence source. 

 Removing the reference to urgent oral authorisations which are no longer 
available to local authority

 Indicating that the duration of an authorisation commences with the 
magistrates approval

 Indicating that juvenile or vulnerable CHIS and the acquisition of 
confidential information by only be authorised by the Chief Executive or 

54



SRO in their absence
 Inserting a section on RIPA and the interaction with social media 
 Insert a section which outlines the process for judicial approval
 Outline the responsibilities of the SRO and CMO
 Expand on the case law examples to provide more explanation to officers
 Include a section of when RIPA applies and what to do when it does not
 Remove reference to home surveillance as no longer applicable

5.4 Prior to the inspector’s report being received, work had already commenced to update 
the policy. It was also referred to an experienced external training provider to review. 
This has provided an additional feedback on content and format to assist officers in 
understanding their responsibilities. 

5.5 In addition to the recommendations, the inspection highlighted additional areas to 
ourselves where we could be proactive and improve governance. Given the greater 
restrictions of when RIPA applies, it means that more activities fall outside of RIPA yet 
would benefit from the framework being applied. We have proposed using the RIPA 
framework, minus the judicial approval, to self-regulate activities which may constitute 
surveillance but do not meet the crime threshold. This ensures a robust framework with 
a central register of all surveillance activities. 

5.6 The policy, (Appendix A), has been updated and is attached for consideration. 

6. CONSULTATION

6.1 Consultation has taken place between the following parties:
 Director of Governance; and
 Chief Internal Auditor.

7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

7.1 That the Audit Committee notes the recommendations of the inspection report and 
approves the revised policy.  The inclusion of a register of activities which fall out of 
scope of RIPA will ensure that the Committee continues to be informed of the 
necessary and proportionate use of surveillance activities across the Authority. 

8. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 Given the authority’s responsible and low use of these powers, it is recommended that 
the committee continues to receive information on the use of RIPA and non RIPA 
activities only when those processes have been used. 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 There are no alternative options as this is a statutory requirement.  

10. IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no implications arising from this report which are not already addressed in 
the report. The Council has already established a positive profile and has been 
congratulated on its adherence to the legislation by the Office of Surveillance 
Commissioners. 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

55



(Used to prepare this report in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

11.1 Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 

12 APPENDICES

Appendix A - Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy

56



APPENDIX A

Growing the right way for
a bigger, better 
Peterborough

Peterborough City Council

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
(RIPA) Policy
 

57



2
RIPA Policy 2015

Introduction .........................................................................................................5

Key Role Definitions.........................................................................................5

Useful Web-sites..............................................................................................6

Basic determination of RIPA ................................................................................7

Covert Surveillance ..............................................................................................8

What is Surveillance?.......................................................................................8

When is surveillance covert? ...........................................................................8

When is surveillance directed? ........................................................................8

When is Surveillance Intrusive? .......................................................................8

The Surveillance Checklist..................................................................................10

Is the Surveillance Covert?.............................................................................10

Is it Directed? .................................................................................................10

Private Information........................................................................................10

Is the crime threshold met?...........................................................................11

Is it proportionate? ........................................................................................12

When surveillance falls outside of RIPA?.......................................................12

CCTV...................................................................................................................13

Covert Use of Human Intelligence Source (“CHIS”) ...........................................14

The Conditions for Authorisation ......................................................................15

Covert Directed Surveillance .........................................................................15

Use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources....................................................17

Use of social media in investigations .................................................................19

Application and Authorisation Process..............................................................20

Lapse of Authorisations .................................................................................21

Renewal of Authorisations.............................................................................21

Combined Authorisations ..............................................................................21

Retention Period for Authorisations..............................................................22

Reviews of Authorisations .............................................................................22

Cancellation of Authorisations.......................................................................22

Immediate response to situations .................................................................22

Other Factors .....................................................................................................23

58



3
RIPA Policy 2015

Spiritual Counselling ......................................................................................23

Legally Privileged and Confidential Material .................................................23

Data Protection..............................................................................................24

Vulnerable Individuals ...................................................................................25

Juveniles.........................................................................................................25

Errors .............................................................................................................25

Central Register of Authorisations.....................................................................26

Codes of Practice ...............................................................................................27

Benefits of Obtaining Authorisation under RIPA ...............................................28

Acquisition of Communications Data ................................................................29

Application procedure ...................................................................................29

Training ..............................................................................................................31

Oversight............................................................................................................32

Members........................................................................................................32

Strategic Governance Board/Senior Management........................................32

The Office of the Surveillance Commissioners and the Tribunal .......................33

Relevant case law ..............................................................................................34

R v Johnson ....................................................................................................34

R v Sutherland 2002.......................................................................................34

Peck v United Kingdom [2003].......................................................................34

Martin v. United Kingdom [2004] European Court App ................................35

R v. Button and Tannahill 2005......................................................................35

APPENDIX 1 Confidential Material.....................................................................36

APPENDIX 2 Authorising Officers (RIPA) ............................................................38

APPENDIX 3 Procedure for directed surveillance application............................39

APPENDIX 4 Procedure use of Covert Human Intelligence Source....................40

APPENDIX 5 Procedure for obtaining communications data.............................41

APPENDIX 6 Procedure for obtaining judicial approval .....................................42

APPENDIX 7 Statutory process for obtaining judicial approval..........................43

APPENDIX 8 Surveillance Assessment................................................................44

59



4
RIPA Policy 2015

Introduction

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (‘RIPA’) regulates covert 
investigations by a number of bodies, including local authorities. 

The Revised Codes of Practice for use of such powers provide guidance to 
understand when RIPA applies and the procedures to follow. The Protection 
of Freedoms Act placed restrictions on when a local authority can use RIPA 
powers.

Authorisation under RIPA by one of the Council’s Authorised Officers gives 
authority to carry out Covert Surveillance, acquire communications data and 
use Covert Human Intelligence Source. 

Authorisation ensures that the powers conferred by RIPA are used lawfully 
and in a way that does not interfere with the surveillance subject’s Human 
Rights.  It also requires those authorising the use of covert techniques to give 
proper consideration to whether use is necessary and proportionate.

The purpose of this Corporate Policy and Procedures Document is to 
explain:

 the scope of RIPA and the circumstances where it applies; and 
 the authorisation procedures to be followed following the Protection of 

Freedoms Act 2012

Key Role Definitions

Senior Responsible Officer – the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) provides 
senior management oversight of the use of RIPA and provides assurance that 
the appropriate statutory controls are in place. Our SRO is Kim Sawyer, 
Director of Governance. 

Central Monitoring Officer (CMO) – the CMO will maintain the central registers 
for covert surveillance, communications data and non RIPA surveillance. They 
are also responsible for coordinating of training, updates of policies, 
procedures and inspections. The CMO is Ben Stevenson, Compliance Manager.

Authorising Officer (RIPA) – an authorising officer must be of service manager 
or above rank and will consider the application made under RIPA. They will 
consider the information provided by the applicant and determine whether 

60



5
RIPA Policy 2015

there is necessity and proportionality in authorising the surveillance request. 
For a list of authorising officers, please see Appendix 2.  

Authorising Officer (Non RIPA) - an authorising officer for activities outside of 
RIPA must be of service manager or above rank and will consider the 
application under the same criteria as RIPA. They will consider the information 
provided by the applicant and determine whether there is necessity and 
proportionality in authorising the surveillance request. These are detailed in 
Appendix 2. 

Applying Officers – whether the application falls under RIPA, an applying 
officer is responsible for completing the application in full and providing 
sufficient details for the Authorising Officer to consider the application. The 
applying officer must never be the authorising officer. 

Useful Web-sites

General Guidance

Home Office guidance to local authorities on the judicial approval process 
for RIPA and the crime threshold for directed surveillance 

RIPA Forms

Code of Practice- Surveillance, Covert Human Intelligence and Acquisition 
and Disclosure of Communications Data

61

http://surveillancecommissioners.independent.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118173/local-authority-england-wales.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118173/local-authority-england-wales.pdf
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office/series/ripa-codes
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office/series/ripa-codes


6
RIPA Policy 2015

Basic determination of RIPA

It is critical that prior to any activity being undertaken, an officer and an 
authorising officer undertake an assessment of the activity proposed. This 
assessment should follow the procedure as detailed below.

Question Answer Notes
1. Is the surveillance 

activity covert?
Yes – proceed to 
question 2

This means that a 
subject is unaware of 
the activity due to the 
way it being undertaken

2. Is the surveillance 
directed?

Yes – proceed to 
question 3

This means that the 
activity is for a specific 
investigation or purpose 

3. Is the 
investigation into 
a criminal 
offence?

Yes – proceed to 
question 4

If it is not an 
investigation the 
alleged commission of a 
criminal offence then 
RIPA does not apply 
however you should 
refer to Non-RIPA 
activity policy

4. Are you likely to 
obtain 
confidential or 
private 
information

Yes – proceed to 5 If you are not likely to 
obtain such information 
then RIPA does not 
apply.

5. Does the offence 
meet the crime 
threshold?

If yes then RIPA applies If it does not then RIPA 
does not apply however 
you should refer to 
Non-RIPA activity policy

Please refer to Surveillance Checklist 

62



7
RIPA Policy 2015

Covert Surveillance

What is Surveillance?

Surveillance includes:

 monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, their 
conversations or their other activities or communication;

 recording anything monitored, observed or listened to in the course of 
surveillance; and

 surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device.

When is surveillance covert?

Surveillance is covert when it is carried out in a manner calculated to ensure that 
the subject or others affected by the surveillance are unaware that it is or may 
be taking place.

RIPA regulates two types of covert surveillance namely directed and intrusive.

When is surveillance directed?

Surveillance is ‘Directed’ (Revised Codes of Practice paragraph 2.2) if it is covert 
and undertaken:

 it is covert, but not intrusive surveillance;
 it is conducted for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation;
 it is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a person 

(whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes of the 
investigation or operation);

 it is conducted otherwise than by way of an immediate response to 
events or circumstances the nature of which is such that it would not be 
reasonably practicable for an authorisation under Part II of the 2000 Act 
to be sought.

When is Surveillance Intrusive?

THE COUNCIL IS NOT AUTHORISED TO CARRY OUT INTRUSIVE SURVEILLANCE

63



8
RIPA Policy 2015

Surveillance is intrusive, (Revised Codes of Practice paragraph 2.11) if it is 
covert and:

 is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any “residential 
premises” or in any “private vehicle”; and

 involves the presence of an individual or surveillance device in the 
premises or in the vehicle.

N.B. Surveillance which is carried out by means of a surveillance device in 
relation to anything taking place on any residential premises or in any 
private vehicle but is carried out without that device being present on the 
premises or in the vehicle is not intrusive unless the device is such that it 
consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as might 
be expected to be obtained from a device actually present on the 
premises or in the vehicle.

64



9
RIPA Policy 2015

The Surveillance Checklist
Before any officer of the Council undertakes any surveillance of any individual 
or individuals they need to assess whether the activity comes within RIPA.  In 
order to do this they need to ask themselves the following key questions.

Is the Surveillance Covert?

Covert surveillance is that carried out in a manner calculated to ensure that the 
subject of it is unaware it is or may be taking place.

If activities are open and not hidden from the subject of an investigation, RIPA 
does not apply.  Conversely if it is hidden, consider whether surveillance is likely 
to be directed or intrusive.

Is it Directed?

This means whether or not it is for the purpose of a specific investigation or a 
specific operative. The use of surveillance for general purposes will not normally 
be ‘directed’ and will not therefore require RIPA authorisation.  An example of 
this is the use of CCTV cameras for general area wide observation.  However, if 
the surveillance is used as a means of targeting a specific person or persons then 
RIPA will apply if private information is likely to be obtained.  In such 
circumstances Officers should also be mindful of the possibility of collateral 
intrusion (see pages 8 – 9) when applying for the appropriate authority.

Private Information 

The 2000 Act states that private information includes any information relating 
to a person’s private or family life. Private information should be taken 
generally to include any aspect of a person’s private or personal relationship 
with others, including family8 and professional or business relationships.

Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy when in a public 
place, covert surveillance of that person’s activities in public may still result in 
the obtaining of private information. This is likely to be the case where that 
person has a reasonable expectation of privacy even though acting in public 

65



10
RIPA Policy 2015

and where a record is being made by a public authority of that person’s 
activities for future consideration or analysis.

Private life considerations are particularly likely to arise if several records are 
to be analysed together in order to establish, for example, a pattern of 
behaviour, or if one or more pieces of information (whether or not available in 
the public domain) are covertly (or in some cases overtly) obtained for the 
purpose of making a permanent record about a person or for subsequent data 
processing to generate further information. In such circumstances, the totality 
of information gleaned may constitute private information even if individual 
records do not. Where such conduct includes covert surveillance, a directed 
surveillance authorisation may be considered appropriate.

Private information may include personal data, such as names, telephone 
numbers and address details. Where such information is acquired by means of 
covert surveillance of a person having a reasonable expectation of privacy, a  
directed surveillance authorisation is appropriate.

If it is unlikely that observations will result in the obtaining of private information 
about a person then it is outside RIPA.

Is the crime threshold met?

The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 introduced a crime threshold for local 
authorities wishing to carry out directed surveillance. 

This means that local authorities can only authorise use of directed 
surveillance under RIPA to prevent or detect criminal offences that are either 
punishable, whether on summary conviction or indictment, 

 by a maximum term of at least 6 months' imprisonment or 
 are related to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco as per article 

7A of the 2010 Order. 

A local authority may not authorise the use of directed surveillance under RIPA 
to investigate disorder that does not involve criminal offences or to investigate 
low level offences such as littering, dog control and fly posting. 

If the offence changes during an investigation and meets the threshold test, 
then an application may be made. 

66



11
RIPA Policy 2015

Is it proportionate?

In determining whether the activity is proportionate, paragraph 3.4 of the 
Revised Codes of Practice, the following must be considered:

 Have we balanced the size and scope of the proposed activity against 
the gravity and extent of the perceived crime or offence;

 Have we explained how and why the methods to be adopted will cause 
the least possible intrusion on the subject and others;

 have we considered whether the activity is an appropriate use of the
 legislation and a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable

alternatives, of obtaining the necessary result;
 have we evidenced, as far as reasonably practicable, what other 

methods had been considered and why they were not implemented.

When surveillance falls outside of RIPA?

There will occasions when a council officer needs to undertake surveillance 
which does not meet the criteria of RIPA. Given the potential for challenge by a 
subject during legal proceedings, it is the council’s policy that such actions will 
still be governed by the RIPA framework and will require authorisation by an 
authorising officer and notification to the central monitoring officer. It will not 
require the judicial approval.

The application will be made using the standard RIPA forms but any reference 
to the Act must be removed. 

Surveillance which can termed overt does not require authorisation – a visit to 
a property with the intention to speak to the occupier would not constitute 
surveillance. If there is no intention to speak to the occupier such as “drive 
pasts” to obtain information then this may become surveillance and therefore 
this policy applies. One visit to the property to obtain the details of a vehicle 
will not be considered surveillance however repeated visits to establish a 
pattern of behaviour will be considered and the appropriate RIPA or non-RIPA 
form will be required. 

67



12
RIPA Policy 2015

CCTV

Peterborough City Council operates a CCTV system which can be used in 
surveillance where appropriate and where authorised. The corporate code of 
practice is available and covers the use by Police and non-Police agencies.  

Peterborough City Council has an agreed protocol with Cambridgeshire Police 
which is held by the CMO and CCTV Manager.. 

68



13
RIPA Policy 2015

Covert Use of Human Intelligence Source (“CHIS”)

The Revised Codes of Practice (paragraph 2.1) state that a person is a Covert 
Human Intelligence Source if:

(a) they establish or maintain a personal or other relationship with a person for 
the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling within paragraph 
b) or c);

(b) they covertly use such a relationship to obtain information or to provide 
access to any information to another person; or

(c) they covertly disclose information obtained by the use of such a relationship 
or as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.

A purpose is covert, in relation to the establishment or maintenance of a       
personal or other relationship, if and only if the relationship is conducted in a 
manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship 
is unaware of that purpose.

Authorisation is not required where members of the public volunteer 
information to the Council as part of their normal civic duties or to contact 
numbers set up to receive information (e.g. a Housing Benefit Fraud hotline).

The Council can only use a CHIS if authorisation has been authorised and 
received judicial approval.  Authorisation will only be give if the use of the CHIS 
is for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder. 

Before use of a CHIS is authorised, advice must be sought from the Senior 
Responsible Officer or their appointed deputy. 

69



14
RIPA Policy 2015

The Conditions for Authorisation

Covert Directed Surveillance

For covert directed surveillance an Authorising Officer will not grant an 
authorisation unless he/she believes (and the prescribed forms require that 
the factors below are shown to have been taken into account):

(a) that an authorisation is necessary; and

(b) the authorised surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved by carrying it out. 

An authorisation is necessary if: 

(a) The offence is punishable by a maximum term of six months 
imprisonment on conviction or is related to the underage sale of 
alcohol and tobacco as per article 7A of the 2010 Order. 

An authorisation will be proportionate if the person granting the authorisation 
has balanced the intrusiveness of the activity on the target and others who 
might be affected by it against the need for the activity in operational terms.  
The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of 
the case or if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by 
other less intrusive means.

The onus is therefore on the person authorising such surveillance to satisfy 
themselves it is:

(a) necessary for the ground stated above; and

(b) proportionate to its aim.

70



15
RIPA Policy 2015

In order to ensure that authorising officers have sufficient information to make 
an informed decision it is important that detailed records are maintained.  The 
prescribed forms (held by the Authorising Officer) must be fully completed.

It is also sensible to make any authorisation sufficiently wide enough to cover 
all that is required.  This will also enable effective monitoring of what is done 
against that authorised.  The use of stock phrases or cut and paste narrative 
should be avoided at all times to ensure that proper consideration is given the 
particular circumstances of each case.

Particular consideration should be given to collateral intrusion or interference 
with the privacy of persons other than the subject(s) of surveillance and 
wherever possible steps should be taken to avoid or minimise it.  Such 
collateral intrusion or interference would be a matter of greater concern in 
cases where there are special sensitivities, for example in cases of premises 
used by lawyers or for any form of medical or professional counselling or 
therapy, or in a particular community.

Any application for authorisation should include an assessment of risk of any 
collateral intrusion or interference.  The Authorising Officer will take this into 
account, particularly when considering the proportionality of the surveillance.

Those carrying out the covert surveillance should inform the Authorising 
Officer if the operation/investigation unexpectedly interferes with the privacy 
of individuals who are not the original subjects of the investigation or covered 
by the authorisation in some other way.  In some cases the original 
authorisation may not be sufficient and consideration should be given to 
whether a separate authorisation is required.

The applying officer should also undertake a surveillance assessment which 
includes a health and safety risk assessment, Appendix 8. 

Judicial approval should then be sought. The corporate procedure for this can 
be found in Appendix 6.

See also Other Factors to be taken into account in certain circumstances.

71



16
RIPA Policy 2015

Use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources

The same necessary grounds and proportionate principles apply but the crime

threshold does not apply in this area. 

The Conduct so authorised is any conduct that:

a) is comprised in any such activities involving the use of a covert 
human intelligence source, as are specified or described in the 
authorisation;

b) relates to the person who is specified or described as the person to 
whose actions as a covert human intelligence source the 
authorisation relates; and 

c) is carried out for the purposes of, or in connection with, the 
investigation or operation so specified or described.

In order to ensure that an Authorising Officer has sufficient information to make 
an informed decision the prescribed forms (held by the Authorising Officer) 
must be fully completed. Advice must have also been sought from the Senior 
Responsible Officer prior to the consideration of authorisation. 

It is also sensible to make any authorisation sufficiently wide enough to cover all 
that is required.  This will also enable effective monitoring of what is done 
against that authorised.

The Authorising Officer must consider the safety and welfare of the source 
person acting as a Covert Human Intelligence Source and the foreseeable 
consequences to others of the tasks they are asked to carry out. A risk 
assessment should be carried out before authorisation is given.  Consideration 
from the start, for the safety and welfare of the source person, even after 
cancellation of the authorisation, needs to be considered.

72



17
RIPA Policy 2015

The Authorising Officer must believe that the authorised use of the source 
person as a Covert Human Intelligence Source is proportionate to what it seeks 
to achieve.  Accurate and proper records should be kept about the tasks 
undertaken.

The applicant, and the Authorising Officer if required, will attend to obtain 
judicial approval. The corporate procedure can be found at Appendix 6.

The Applicant will have day-to-day responsibility for dealing with the source 
person and for the source person’s security and welfare. They will be termed 
the handler. They will have responsibility for

 Dealing with the CHIS on behalf of the authority
 Directing the day to day activities of the CHIS
 Recording the information supplied by the CHIS
 Monitoring the CHIS’s security and welfare

A senior manager, not the Authorising Officer, will at all times have general 
oversight of the use made of the source person and maintaining a record of such 
use. They will be termed the controller in accordance with the codes of practice. 
They will be responsible for the management and supervision of the handler and 
general oversight of the use of the CHIS. 

The senior manager will need to comply with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers (Source Records) Regulations which requires that certain records be 
kept relating to each source.  Each Authorising Officer has a copy of the aforesaid 
Regulations.

73



18
RIPA Policy 2015

Use of social media in investigations

The use of the internet and its content such as social media such as Facebook 
and Twitter is an investigation is permitted. In accessing such sites, officers 
must consider the issues of privacy and collateral intrusion. Even though a 
person may have placed information about themselves or others in the public 
arena, they have done so with an expectation of a degree of privacy. Viewing 
information on the internet may constitute covert surveillance, particularly if 
there is monitoring of subjects involved for example to establish patterns of 
behaviour. Where the activity does not include monitoring of material in the 
public domain, neither a RIPA nor a non RIPA application will be required. If 
repeated visits to a site are made then this will constitute monitoring. 

Any use of the internet in an investigation must be fully documented. 

Where officers are building and maintaining a relationship with an individual 
without that individuals knowing the true nature for the purposes of an 
investigation, this will require an application for the use of a CHIS. This will 
include where an officer sends a friend request for example. Officers must not 
create a false identity to establish a profile. The agreed process for the use of a 
CHIS is detailed above.

74



19
RIPA Policy 2015

Application and Authorisation Process

Should the criteria be met, an officer will need to submit a directed 
surveillance application form to an authorising officer. The application form 
must be the latest version available on the Home Office website to ensure we 
are using the most up to date. 

All sections relevant to the application must be completed and in a manner in 
which any authorising officer can understand i.e. it is not necessary for the 
authorising officer to be a specialist in the applicant’s area. 

The application must contain the following information

 A description of the investigation to date include details of the alleged 
offence which meets the crime threshold , details of subjects involved 
and an intelligence evaluation

 The conduct to be authorised must be described in detail 
 Assessments of the local area, health and safety and risk have been 

completed  
 Confirm the purpose of the operation and what it hopes to achieve
 What the operation will entail e.g. static, mobile, use of cameras.
 Where it will take place, when and how long will it last, remembering to 

be proportionate
 A description of what information will be obtained and how this will 

assist the investigation
 Explain why the directed surveillance is necessary i.e. it meets the crime 

threshold
 Explain the potential for collateral intrusion, why it is unavoidable and 

how it will be minimised. 
 Explain how this is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. 
 Explain whether there is the likelihood of obtaining confidential 

information as defined by the codes of practice. This must be answered 
yes or no – stating that it is unlikely will not be accepted as this suggests 
it remains a possibility

This application should be submitted to the Authorising Officer to consider. 

An authorising officer must review each case on its merits and explain why 
they authorise the conduct, considering necessity and proportionality along 
with any collateral intrusion. 

75



20
RIPA Policy 2015

Prior to seeking judicial approval, the application must be submitted to the 
CMO who will allocate a unique reference number. The corporate procedure 
for obtaining judicial approval should be adhered to. The CMO must be 
notified of the outcome and provided with a copy of the approval/refusal 
supplied. 

Lapse of Authorisations

Authorisation should not be allowed to lapse. They should be reviewed and 
cancelled or renewed. However the legal position with regard to lapse is as 
follows:-

WRITTEN - Covert Human Intelligence Source - 12 months from the date of 
the approval of a magistrate or last renewal.

WRITTEN - Directed Surveillance – 3 months from the date of approval of a 
magistrate or last renewal.

Renewal of Authorisations

A Magistrate will be responsible for renewing an existing authorisation in the 
same terms at any time before it ceases to have effect.

However, for the conduct of a Covert Human Intelligence Source, an Authorising 
Officer should not renew unless a review has been carried out and that person 
has considered the results of the review when deciding whether  to renew or 
not.  A review must cover what use has been made of the source, the tasks given 
to them and information obtained. The renewal must be receive judicial 
approval. 

Authorising Officers are responsible for ensuring that authorisations undergo 
timely reviews and are cancelled promptly after directed surveillance activity is 
no longer necessary.

Combined Authorisations
A single authorisation may combine two or more different authorisations under 
RIPA.  In cases of joint working, for example, with other agencies on the same 
operation, authority for directed surveillance by a Housing Benefit Investigator 
must be obtained from the Council’s authorising officers.  Authority cannot be 
granted by the authorising officer of another body for the actions of the Council 
staff and vice versa.

76



21
RIPA Policy 2015

Retention Period for Authorisations

Authorisations (together with the Application reviews, renewals and 
cancellation) should be retained by the Authorising Officer, for a period of 3 
years.  Where it is believed that the records could be relevant to pending or 
future criminal proceedings, they should be retained for a suitable further 
period, commensurate to any subsequent review.  It is each department’s 
responsibility to securely retain all authorisations within their departments.

Reviews of Authorisations

Regular review of authorisations should be undertaken to assess the need for 
the surveillance/CHIS to continue.  The results of the review need to be sent for 
recording on the Central Register. 

Cancellation of Authorisations

The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must 
cancel it if he is satisfied the authorisation no longer meets the criteria upon 
which it was authorised. No authorisation should be left to simply expire. 

The process for cancellation is for the investigating officer to submit the 
cancellation form to the Authorising Officer. This cancellation should detail the 
reason for cancellation, the benefits or issues arising of the operation and any 
outcome. It should also include the time spent on the operation.  A copy of this 
form must be forwarded to the CMO to retain on the central record. 

Immediate response to situations

The ability for a local authority to grant urgent oral authorisation for use of 
RIPA has been removed. It is recognised that council officers find themselves in 
a situation where they need to carry out some form of surveillance without the 
time to complete a form and obtain authorisations. In these instances, the 
officer should obtain authorisation from their line manager and also record 
their reasons, actions, what was observed and be prepared to explain their 
decisions.  

77



22
RIPA Policy 2015

Other Factors

Spiritual Counselling

No operations should be taken in circumstances where investigators believe 
that surveillance will lead to them intruding on spiritual counselling between a 
Minister and a Member of his/her faith. In this respect, spiritual counselling is 
defined as conversations with Minister of Religion acting in his-her official 
capacity where the person being counselled is seeking or the Minister is 
imparting forgiveness, or absolution of conscience.

Legally Privileged and Confidential Material

RIPA does not provide any special protection for ‘confidential material’.  
(Revised Codes of Practice paragraph 4.1) Nevertheless, such material is 
particularly sensitive, and is subject to additional safeguards (see also 
Appendix 1).  In cases where the likely consequence of the conduct of a Covert 
Human Intelligence Source would be for any person to acquire knowledge of 
confidential material, the deployment of the Covert Human Intelligence Source 
should be subject to consultation with the Chief Executive and Senior 
Responsible Officer. 

In general, any application for an authorisation which is likely to result in the 
acquisition of confidential material should include an assessment of how likely 
it is that confidential material will be acquired.  Special care should be taken 
where the target of the investigation is likely to be involved in handling 
confidential material.  Such applications should only be considered in 
exceptional and compelling circumstances with full regard to the 
proportionality issues this raises.

The following general principles apply to confidential material acquired under 
authorisations:

Those handling material from such operations should be alert to anything that 
may fall within the definition of confidential material.  If there is doubt as to 

78



23
RIPA Policy 2015

whether the material is confidential, advice should be sought from the Head of 
Legal Services before further dissemination takes place;

Confidential material should not be retained or copied unless it is necessary for 
a specified purpose;

Confidential material should be disseminated only where an appropriate 
officer (having sought advice from the Principal Lawyer) is satisfied that it is 
necessary for a specific purpose;

The retention of dissemination of such information should be accompanied by 
a clear warning of its confidential nature.  It should be safeguarded by taking 
reasonable steps to ensure that there is no possibility of it becoming available, 
or its content being known, to any person whose possession of it might 
prejudice any criminal or civil proceedings related to the information.

Confidential material should be destroyed as soon as it is no longer necessary 
to retain it for a specified purpose. This should only be with the approval of the 
Chief Executive and Senior Responsible Officer.

Data Protection

Authorising officers must ensure compliance with the appropriate data 
protection requirements and the relevant codes of practice in the handling and 
storage of material.  Where material is obtained by surveillance, which is 
wholly unrelated to a criminal or other investigation or to any person who is 
the subject of the investigation, and there is no reason to believe it will be 
relevant to future civil or criminal proceedings, It should be destroyed 
immediately.  Consideration of whether or not unrelated material should be 
destroyed is the responsibility of the Authorising Officer.

RIPA does not prevent material obtained through the proper use of the 
authorisation procedures from being used in other investigations.  However, 
the use outside the Council, of any material obtained by means of covert 

79



24
RIPA Policy 2015

surveillance and, other than in pursuance of the grounds on which it was 
obtained requires authorisation by the Head of Legal Services.

Vulnerable Individuals

The use of a vulnerable individual as a Covert Human Intelligence Source 
requires authorisation by the Chief Executive or their delegated deputy.  The 
use must always be referred to the Senior Responsible Officer or their deputy 
for advice prior to authorisation.  Such an individual should only be used as a 
Covert Human Intelligence Source in exceptional circumstances.  A vulnerable 
individual is a person who is or may be in need of community care services by 
reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who is or may be unable 
to take care of himself or herself or unable to protect himself or herself against 
harm or exploitation.

Juveniles

The use of a juvenile (under 18) as a Covert Human Intelligence Source 
requires authorisation by the Chief Executive or their delegated deputy.  The 
use must always be referred to the Senior Responsible Officer or their deputy 
for advice prior to authorisation

Errors 

Any error such as activity undertaken which was not authorised or is 
conducted beyond the directions of the authorising officer. It will also include 
failure to declare thorough reviews, renewals, cancellation and poor 
administration. Any such errors must be reported to the SRO and Central 
Monitoring Officer. 

80



25
RIPA Policy 2015

Central Register of Authorisations

It is a requirement of the revised Code of Practice for Surveillance, paragraph 
8.1, that a central register of all authorisations, reviews, renewals, 
cancellations etc is maintained and regularly updated.  The Compliance 
Manager maintains this Register.

It is the Authorising Officer's responsibility to ensure that any application 
under RIPA is forwarded to the Compliance Manager for central registration 
within one week of the relevant authorisation, review, renewal, cancellation 
or rejection.  Each application will be allocated a Unique Reference Number 
(URN) at this stage and will be monitored by the Compliance Manager to 
ensure compliance with timescales. 

Whenever an authorisation is granted, renewed or cancelled (and this includes 
authorisations issued by the Police or other third parties using Council CCTV or 
other facilities) the Authorising Officer must arrange for  copies to be 
forwarded to the Compliance Manager.  Receipt will be acknowledged.

81



26
RIPA Policy 2015

Codes of Practice

There are Home Office Codes of Practice that expand on this guidance and 
copies are held by each Authorising Officer. They can be accessed at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes ; officers should 
ensure that they are consulting the latest version. 

The Codes do not have the force of statute, but are admissible in evidence in 
any criminal and civil proceedings.  As stated in the Codes, “if any provision of 
the Code appears relevant to a question before any Court or tribunal 
considering any such proceedings, or to the tribunal established under RIPA, or 
to one of the commissioners responsible for overseeing the powers conferred 
by RIPA, it must be taken into account”.

82

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes


27
RIPA Policy 2015

Benefits of Obtaining Authorisation under RIPA

RIPA states that if authorisation confers entitlement to engage in a certain 
conduct and  the conduct is in accordance with the authorisation, then it shall 
be “lawful for all purposes”.

83



28
RIPA Policy 2015

Acquisition of Communications Data

Communications data means any traffic or any information that is or has been 
sent via a telecommunications system or postal system, together with 
information about the use of the system made by any person.  

There are two powers granted by S22 RIPA in respect of the acquisition of 
Communications Data from telecommunications and postal companies 
(“Communications Companies”).  

S22 (3) provides that an authorised person can authorise another person 
within the same relevant public authority to collect the data. This allows the 
local authority to collect the communications data themselves, i.e. if a 
Communications Service Provider is technically unable to collect the data, an 
authorisation under the section would permit the local authority to collect the 
communications data themselves.  

In order to compel a Communications Service Provider to obtain and disclose, 
or just disclose Communications Data in their possession, a notice under S22 
(4) RIPA must be issued. This must be follow the judicial approval process as 
outlined in Appendix 5. 

The sole ground to permit the issuing of a S22 notice by a Permitted Local 
Authority is for the purposes of “preventing or detecting crime or of 
preventing disorder”. The issuing of such a notice will be the more common of 
the two powers utilised, in that the Communications Service Provider will most 
probably have means of collating and providing the communications data 
requested.       

Once a notice has been issued, it must be sent to the Communications Service 
Provider. In issuing a notice, the Authorising Officer can authorise another 
person to liaise with the Communications Service Provider covered by the 
notice. 

Application procedure
The enquiry will need to be made through NAFN and their process adhered to. 

The applicant and authorising officer will need to explain:

 the specific information required with reference to paragraph 3.30 of 
the codes of practice to streamline the process when dealing with 
number porting and also to take a more proactive approach to data 

84



29
RIPA Policy 2015

capture such as top up details when identifying the user of a prepaid 
mobile. 

 why it is relevant 
 why it is necessary
 why it is proportionate
 how they will minimise collateral intrusion 

A unique reference number should be obtained from the CMO before 
submission to NAFN. The CMO will record the details. 

Once authorised by NAFN, the applicant should follow the procedure for 
obtaining judicial approval

85



30
RIPA Policy 2015

Training

There will be an annual programme of training for officers, which may include 
face to face or e-learning training. Refresher training will be provided on a 
biannual basis. Officers may be required to confirm they have read 
documentation and have understood the intervening times. 

Only formally trained Authorised Officers will be permitted to authorised 
applications. 

86



31
RIPA Policy 2015

Oversight 

Members

The use of RIPA powers will be a standing item on the agenda for the Audit 
Committee. An annual report will be produced detailing the usage along with 
any inspections, changes to policy and procedure. 

Strategic Governance Board/Senior Management

An annual report will be produced detailing the usage along with any 
inspections, changes to policy and procedure.

87



32
RIPA Policy 2015

The Office of the Surveillance Commissioners and the 
Tribunal

The Chief Surveillance Commissioner will keep under review, the exercise and 
performance by the persons on who are conferred or imposed, the powers and 
duties under RIPA.  This includes those Authorising Officers authorising Covert 
Directed Surveillance and the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources and 
the maintenance of the Central Register by the Head of Legal Services.

A tribunal has been established to consider and determine complaints made 
under RIPA if it is the appropriate forum.  Complaints can be made by persons 
aggrieved by conduct e.g. direct surveillance.  The forum hears application on a 
judicial review basis.  Claims should be brought within one year unless it is just 
and equitable to extend that.

The tribunal can order, among other things, the quashing or cancellation of any 
warrant or authorisation and can order destruction of any records or 
information obtained by using a warrant or authorisation, and records of 
information held by any public authority in relation to any person.  The Council 
is however, under a duty to disclose or provide to the tribunal all documents 
they require if:

 A Council officer has granted any authorisation under RIPA.

 Council employees have engaged in any conduct as a result of such 
authorisation.

A disclosure notice requirement is given.

88



33
RIPA Policy 2015

Relevant case law

R v Johnson

In this case the Court of Appeal provided criteria that must be adopted if 
premises used for observation purposes by the Police are not to be disclosed in 
open court.

Should PCC wish not to disclose the premises used for the observation, then 
following the rational in this case it would appear that the Authorising Officer 
must be able to testify that immediately prior to trial:

 he/she visited premises to be used for observation 

 he/she obtained and recorded the views of the owner and/or occupier 
in respect of the use made of the premises and the possible 
consequences of disclosure which could lead to identification of the 
premises and occupiers.

Such views must be recorded and the record marked as sensitive. If this issue 
arises please contact the Director of Governance for appropriate advice.

R v Sutherland 2002 

The recording and handling of confidential material (legal privilege) obtained 
as a result of recording equipment deployed in the exercise area of two police 
stations. In this matter, the activity exceeded that which had been authorised 
and the case against Sutherland collapsed. This emphasises the requirement to 
ensure that all activity is authorised prior to the operation and any errors are 
reported. 

Peck v United Kingdom [2003]

The applicant was filmed by a CCTV camera operated by Brentwood Borough 
Council in a public street shortly after he had attempted to commit suicide. 

89



34
RIPA Policy 2015

The council subsequently released two still photographs taken from the CCTV 
footage to show the benefits of CCTV. Peck’s face was not specifically masked. 
These pictures subsequently appeared on regional television but his face was 
masked. Peck sought to challenge the authority’s decision but was rejected by 
the Court of Appeal. He took the matter to the European Court of Human 
Rights where he was successful. The case establishes the right to privacy in a 
public area, even if it is a reduced level.

Martin v. United Kingdom [2004] European Court App
Alleged disorderly behaviour by M towards neighbour. Local Authority 
mounted covert surveillance of M on the basis that the surveillance by video 
was justified as the surveillance was targeted at behaviour which was visible to 
a neighbour or passer by. Claim of Article 8 infringement settled by agreement 
with damages awarded to Martin.

R v. Button and Tannahill 2005 
Audio and video recording of defendants while in police custody. Audio 
recording had been RIPA authorised; video recording was not authorised. 
Video record admitted in evidence although common ground that it had been 
unauthorised and so obtained unlawfully (in breach of s.6 Human Rights Act 
1998). It was argued on appeal that the trial Court was itself in breach of s.6 by 
admitting the evidence. Held that the breach of article 8 related to the 
intrusion upon private life involved in the covert surveillance. So far as a trial 
Court is concerned: any such breach of article 8 is subsumed by the article 6 ( 
and P.A.C.E.) duty to ensure a fair trial. The trial judge had not acted unlawfully 
by admitting the evidence.

90



35
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 1 Confidential Material 

Confidential Material

“Confidential Material” consists of:

 matters subject to legal privilege;
 confidential personal information; or
 confidential journalistic material.

Matters subject to legal privilege” includes both oral and written 
communications between a professional legal adviser and his/her client or any 
person representing his/her client, made in connection with the giving of legal 
advice to the client or in contemplation of legal proceedings and for the 
purposes of such proceedings, as well as items enclosed with or referred to in 
such communications.  Communications and items held with the intention of 
furthering a criminal purpose are not matters subject to legal privilege (see 
Note A below).

“Confidential Personal Information” is information held in confidence 
concerning an individual (whether living or dead) who can be identified from it, 
relating;

 to his/her physical or mental health; or

 to spiritual counselling or other assistance given or to be given, and

 which a person has acquired or created in the course of any trade, 
business, profession or other occupation, or for the purposes of any paid 
or unpaid office (see Note B below). It includes both oral and written 
information and also communications as a result of which personal 
information is acquired or created.  Information is held in confidence if:

91



36
RIPA Policy 2015

 it is held subject to an express or implied undertaking to hold it in 
confidence; or

 it is subject to a restriction on disclosure or an obligation of secrecy 
contained in existing or future legislation.

”Confidential Journalistic Material” includes material acquired or created for 
the purpose of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in 
confidence, as well as communications resulting in information being acquired 
for the purposes of journalism and held subject to such an undertaking.

Note A. Legally privileged communications will lose their protection if 
there is evidence, for example, that the professional legal adviser is intending 
to hold or use them for a criminal purpose; privilege is not lost if a professional 
legal adviser is properly advising a person who is suspected of having 
committed a criminal offence.  The concept of legal privilege shall apply to the 
provision of professional legal advice by any agency or organisation.

Note B. Confidential personal information might, for example, include 
consultations between a health professional or a professional counsellor and a 
patient or client, or information from a patient’s medical records.

92



37
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 2 Authorising Officers (RIPA)

Kim Sawyer (SRO) 452361 kim.sawyer@peterborough.gov.uk 

Ben Stevenson(CMO) 452387 ben.stevenson@peterborough.gov.uk

Peter Gell 453419 peter.gell@peterborough.gov.uk 

Steve Crabtree 384557 steve.crabtree@peterborough.gov.uk 

Stuart Saunders 453455 stuart.saunders@peterborough.gov.uk 

Authorising officers (NON RIPA)

In addition to the above the following are permitted to authorise Non RIPA 
applications:

Donna Hall 453514 Donna.hall@peterborough.gov.uk 

Nick Harding 454441 Nicholas.harding@peterborough.gov.uk 

Paul Smith 
(Planning)

453468 Paul.smith@peterborough.gov.uk 

Louise Cooke 384558 Louise.cooke@peterborough.gov.uk 

Belinda Child 863769 Belinda.child@peterborough.gov.uk 

Joanne Hodges 863785 Joanne.hodges@peterborough.gov.uk 

93

mailto:kim.sawyer@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:ben.stevenson@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:peter.gell@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:steve.crabtree@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.saunders@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.hall@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Nicholas.harding@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.smith@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.cooke@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Belinda.child@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Joanne.hodges@peterborough.gov.uk


38
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 3 Procedure for directed surveillance application 

Investigation Officer (IO) completes 
application for directed surveillance 
with full details

IO forwards the approved application 
to the Central Monitoring Officer 
(CMO) for reference number 

IO sends to PCC Authorising Officer 
(AO) for approval. AO must clearly 
state reasons for approval

IO  will complete the application for 
judicial review with full details of the 
application

IO  contacts HM Courts to arrange 
hearing. (see Appendix 6)

IO and AO attend hearing with all 
paperwork to answer any questions 
raised

Approval of application or renewal 
retained on file by IMO and CMO

IO to update CMO on outcome for 
recording purposes and send 

cancellation

94



39
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 4 Procedure use of Covert Human Intelligence 
Source Investigation Officer (IO) completes 

application for use of CHIS in line with 
Council policy 

AO forwards the approved application 
to the  Central Monitoring Officer 
(CMO) 

Authorising Officer holds discussions with SRO 
prior to authorisation. Use of a juvenile or 
vulnerable CHIS must be agreed with Chief 
Executive 

AO/IO  will complete the application for 
judicial review with full details of the 
application

IO  contacts HM Courts to arrange 
hearing. AO will also attend

IO and AO attend hearing with all 
paperwork to answer any questions 
raised

Approval of application retained on file 
by IO and CMO

CMO records actions taken, outcomes 
and receives any other paperwork

95



40
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 5 Procedure for obtaining communications data
Investigation Officer (IO) completes 
application for communications data 
with full details

IO forwards the approved application 
to the SPOC and copies in Central 
Monitoring Officer (CMO) 

IO sends to PCC Authorising Officer 
(AO) for approval. AO must clearly 
state reasons for approval

IO will make application to accredited 
NAFN SPOC will complete the application 
for judicial review with full details of the 
application

IO contacts HM Courts to arrange 
hearing. AO will also attend if required

SPOC and IO attend hearing with all 
paperwork to answer any questions 
raised

Approval of application retained on file 
by IO and SPOC. Forwarded to SPOC 

to carry out application. 

IO informs CMO of outcomes for 
reporting

96



41
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 6 Procedure for obtaining judicial approval 
Application has necessary approval 
from PCC officer. 

IO may be asked to supply copy of 
application in advance

IO contacts Peterborough Magistrates 
Court and obtains appointment 

IO and AO will attend hearing to obtain 
approval from Justice of Peace. 

IO will update CMO on outcome of 
hearing and provide copy of approval

CMO will maintain register and include 
details of JP approval

97

https://courttribunalfinder.service.gov.uk/courts/peterborough-magistrates-court
https://courttribunalfinder.service.gov.uk/courts/peterborough-magistrates-court


42
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 7 Statutory process for obtaining judicial 
approval

98



43
RIPA Policy 2015

APPENDIX 8 Surveillance Assessment

Notes
Specific location

 Type of property
 Residents
 Number and 

locations of 
entrances/exits

 Vehicular access
 Any obstructions
 Any risks

General Area

 Type of area e.g. 
residential or 
commercial

 Shops in locality
 Schools
 Any potential 

hazards 
Subject

 Identity
 Potentially violent
 Vehicles used
 Any known other 

sites
Collateral intrusion

 Detail any other 
individuals of whom 
private information 
may be captured

 Associates
 Family Children
 How will it be limited 

e.g. times, 
techniques

Observation Point

 Is location 
approved?

 Does it require use 

99



44
RIPA Policy 2015

of another building?
 Routes to and from
 In event of discovery 

of operation, agreed 
movement

Equipment

 What is being used?
 Do they work?
 Any issues regarding 

signal reception on 
phones

Health and Safety Assessment
Hazard (including who may 
be harmed)

Level of Risk Mitigating controls

100



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 10

9 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton, Resources Portfolio Holder

Committee Member(s) responsible: Councillor Aitken, Chair of Audit Committee

Contact Officer(s): Karen Dunleavy, Democratic Services 
Officer

 452 233

WORK PROGRAMME

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This is a standard report to Audit Committee which forms part of its agreed work 
programme. This standard report provides details of the Draft Work Programme for the 
following municipal year.

2. UPDATE

2.1 Work Programme 2015 / 2016 (Appendix A)

The Work Programme is based on previous years agendas. The programme has been 
refreshed throughout the year in consultation with senior officers and the Committee 
membership to ensure that it remains relevant and up to date. In addition, any delays in 
reporting issues are recorded so that they do not drop off the committee agenda.

2.2 Training for members on specific aspects of the Audit Committee agenda are available 
throughout the year and will be arranged on request and will take place on a separate day 
to that of the Committee meeting.

101



APPENDIX A

DATE: 29 JUNE 2015
Section / Lead Description

Standard Apologies for Absence

Standard Declarations of Interest 

Standard Minutes of previous 
Meeting 

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Internal Audit: Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion 
2014 / 2015

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive, consider and endorse the annual 
report on Internal Audit activities for the year 
ended 31 March 2015

Internal Audit: Review of 
Effectiveness

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive, consider and endorse the annual 
review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit for 
the year ended 31 March 2015 together with 
any associated action plan

Investigations Team 
Annual Report 2014 / 
2015

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive, consider and endorse the annual 
report on the investigation of fraud and 
irregularities for the year ended 31 March 2015

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive, consider and endorse the draft 
Annual Governance Statement for the year 
ended 31 March 2015

Budget Monitoring Report 
Final Outturn 2014 / 2015

Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive, consider and endorse the final 
outturn position for the year ended 31 March 
2015

Draft Statement of 
Accounts 2014 / 2015

Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive, consider and comment on the draft 
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 
March 2015

INFORMATION AND 
OTHER ITEMS

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) 

Governance
Ben Stevenson

To receive an update on the use of RIPA 
during the financial year reporting activity when 
required.

Approved Write-Offs 
Exceeding £10,000

Steven Pilsworth To receive an update on write offs approved, 
which exceed the Council’s financial regulation 
threshold of £10,000.

Standard Feedback report Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Standard Work Programme 2015 / 
2016

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

OTHER POSSIBLE AGENDA ITEMS

Governance Reports Governance
Ben 

Stevenson

Major changes to governance arrangements, policies 
and procedures requiring approval. Examples would 
include updates to Financial Regulations or Contract 
Rules.

Member Reports Governance
Ben 

Stevenson

Specific reports relating to the Members Code of 
Conduct and / or the Hearing Panel (sub-committee to 
the Audit Committee)

102



DATE: 21 SEPTEMBER 2015

Section / Lead Description
Standard Apologies for Absence

Standard Declarations of Interest 

Standard Minutes of previous 
Meeting

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Risk Management: 
Strategic Risks

Governance
Kevin Dawson

To receive details of the strategic risks 
impacting on the Council and the mitigating 
actions to address these.

Audit of Statement of 
Accounts To Those 
Charged with Governance 
(ISA260)

Finance
Steven Pilsworth

&
PWC

To receive the final Statement of Accounts for 
the year ended 31 March 2015 incorporating 
the Annual Governance Statement together 
with the annual report to those charged with 
governance following their scrutiny by External 
Audit. 

INFORMATION AND 
OTHER ITEMS

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) 

Governance
Ben Stevenson

To receive an update on the use of RIPA 
during the financial year reporting activity when 
required. To also include the outcome of a 
recent Surveillance Commission Inspection.

Approved Write-Offs 
Exceeding £10,000

Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive an update on write offs approved, 
which exceed the Council’s financial regulation 
threshold of £10,000.

Standard Feedback report Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Standard Work Programme 2015 / 
2016

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

OTHER POSSIBLE AGENDA ITEMS

Governance Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Major changes to governance arrangements, 
policies and procedures requiring approval. 
Examples would include updates to Financial 
Regulations or Contract Rules.

Member Reports Governance
Bens Stevenson

Specific reports relating to the Members Code 
of Conduct and / or the Hearing Panel (sub-
committee to the Audit Committee)

103



DATE: 9 NOVEMBER 2015

Section / Lead Description
Standard Apologies for Absence

Standard Declarations of Interest 

Standard Minutes of previous 
Meeting

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Internal Audit: Mid Year 
Progress Report

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive an update on progress against the 
Annual Audit Plan together with details of any 
concerns 

Use of Consultants Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive an update on the Use of 
Consultants across the organisation

Treasury Management Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive an update on the policy and 
effectiveness of treasury management  

INFORMATION AND 
OTHER ITEMS

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) 

Governance
Ben Stevenson

To receive an update on the use of RIPA 
during the financial year reporting activity when 
required.  

Approved Write-Offs 
Exceeding £10,000

Steven Pilsworth To receive an update on write offs approved, 
which exceed the Council’s financial regulation 
threshold of £10,000.

Standard Feedback report Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Standard Work Programme 2015 / 
2016

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

OTHER POSSIBLE AGENDA ITEMS

Governance Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Major changes to governance arrangements, 
policies and procedures requiring approval. 
Examples would include updates to Financial 
Regulations or Contract Rules.

Member Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Specific reports relating to the Members Code 
of Conduct and / or the Hearing Panel (sub-
committee to the Audit Committee)

104



DATE: 8 FEBRUARY 2016

Section / Lead Description
Standard Apologies for Absence

Standard Declarations of Interest 

Standard Minutes of previous 
meeting

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

External Audit: Report to 
Management 

PwC To receive and approve the External Audit 
report in relation to issues identified as part of 
their audit works

External Audit: Annual 
Audit Letter

PwC To receive and approve the External Audit 
report in relation to issues identified as part of 
their audit works

External Audit: Grant 
Claims Annual 
Certification

PwC To receive and approve the External Audit 
report in relation to issues identified as part of 
their audit works

INFORMATION AND 
OTHER ITEMS

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA) 

Governance
Ben Stevenson

To receive an update on the use of RIPA 
during the financial year reporting activity when 
required.

Approved Write-Offs 
Exceeding £10,000

Finance
Steven Pilsworth

To receive an update on write offs approved, 
which exceed the Council’s financial regulation 
threshold of £10,000.

Standard Feedback report Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Standard Work Programme 2015 / 
2016

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

OTHER POSSIBLE AGENDA ITEMS

Governance Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Major changes to governance arrangements, 
policies and procedures requiring approval. 
Examples would include updates to Financial 
Regulations or Contract Rules.

Member Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Specific reports relating to the Members Code 
of Conduct and / or the Hearing Panel (sub-
committee to the Audit Committee)

105



DATE: 21 MARCH 2016

Section / Lead Description
Standard Apologies for Absence

Standard Declarations of Interest 

Standard Minutes of previous 
Meeting

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Risk Management: 
Strategic Risks

Governance
Kevin Dawson

To receive an update on the strategic risks for 
the Council

External Audit: Audit 
Plan Ernst & Young

To receive and approve the External Audit 
Plan

Internal Audit: Draft 
Internal Audit Plan 2016 
/ 2017

Internal Audit
Steve Crabtree

To receive and approve the Internal Audit Plan 
2016 / 2017

Draft Annual Audit 
Committee Report

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

To receive the Draft Annual Audit Committee 
Report prior to submission to Council

INFORMATION AND 
OTHER ITEMS

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA) 

Governance
Ben Stevenson

To receive an update on the use of RIPA 
during the financial year reporting activity when 
required.

Approved Write-Offs 
Exceeding £10,000

Steven Pilsworth To receive an update on write offs approved, 
which exceed the Council’s financial regulation 
threshold of £10,000.

Standard Feedback report Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

Standard Work Programme 2015 / 
2016

Democratic Services
Karen Dunleavy

OTHER POSSIBLE AGENDA ITEMS

Governance Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Major changes to governance arrangements, 
policies and procedures requiring approval. 
Examples would include updates to Financial 
Regulations or Contract Rules.

Member Reports Governance
Ben Stevenson

Specific reports relating to the Members Code 
of Conduct and / or the Hearing Panel (sub-
committee to the Audit Committee)

To be rescheduled:
Section / Lead Description

Outcome of the Code of 
Conduct Review

Governance
Ben Stevenson

Outcome of second review following Audit 
Committee action point 22 September 2014

106


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 21 September 2015
	Minutes

	4 Internal Audit: Mid Year Progress Report
	Item 4 App A  Audit Committee Audit_Progress_Report_2015-16 final

	5 Use of Consultants
	6 Treasury Management
	7 Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
	Item 7 App A RIPA Policy 2015

	10 Work Programme

